
R"EPUBLIC OF KENYA

OFFICE OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAt

E n hanc ing A c c ountab i lity

--:=ftBfQf,f
=aAi.r 

.\-i'^' ti: F:1' I

, ",1, , l.il'll/A I

i r,raf^ri-l--!i' i{ r-; NA-llI i-) I ..1,-r i-- .1.:;.r; :: j'.': . i ! . )

PAI)Ee _.,' [.A i r

,.'.;-:.1: lFlr.rr r3l I--{-
,

-I

I

OF

p.-/^, ,'^,tr
-1, Jl- rJ.^t--ur'
n AuulrOn-cnxERAL
l/41K4*'

ON

INSTITUTE OF CERTIFIED INVESTMENT AND
FINANCIAL ANALYSTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER,2023

{
+

i-{



Ufll!_t. r'i T iti. \JiliI(iti (;u\t:RlL
i,.0 3ur.)r, rl r'31rr, \.{lR0BI

).' t,: (; I sT R \'

CEI ED

ICI
INSTITUTE OF CERI'IFIED INVESTMENT AND FINANCIAL ANAIYSTS

INSTITUTE OF CERTIFIED IITVESTUENT AND FINAT{CIAL ANALYSTS

AIIITUAL REFORT AND FINANCIAL ATATEUEI|TS

llOR TIIE FIITAI{CIAL YEAR ENDED

DECEUBER 31, 2023

Prepared in accordance with the Intemational Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)



Institute of Certified Investment and Financial Analysts
Annual Reports and Financial Statements
For the vear ended December 3l .2023
TABLE OF COITTEI{TA

I ACRONYMS AND CLOSSARY OF TERMS............

II KEY INSTITUTE INFORMATION........

III. COUNCIL MEMBERS......

V. CHAIRPERSON'S STATEMENT..

VI. REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER.....

'.'.....1v

,.........,..,.................vI1

.....,. xvll

VII. STATEMENT OF PERFOMANCE AGAINST PREDETERMINED OBJECTIVES FOR FY

2022/2023 ..............

........ xx

... I

2

5

I

IX. MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS...... ..... xxxvi

X.ENVIRNOMENTALANDSUSTAINABILITYREPORTING... ................xxxvii

xI. REPORT OF THE COI.INCIL........ xxxvlll
XII. STATEMENT OF COUNCIL' RESPONSIBILITIES........ xxxlx
XIII. REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS xli
XIV. STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR

THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

VIII. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT...

XV. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 3I DECEMBER 2023

xIX. NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

XVI.

2023

XVII.

XVIII

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

J

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3I DECEMBER 2023 ...,....4

STATEMENT OF COMPARISON OF BUDGET AND ACTUAL AMOUNTS FOR THE

YEAR ENDED 3 I DECEMBER 2023....

APPENDIX I: PROCRESS ON FOLLOW UP OF AUDITOR RECOMMENDATIONS 42

APPENDIX II: PROJECTS IMPLEMENTED BY THE INSTITUTE..... 4l
APPENDIX III: INTER-INSTITUTE TRANSFERS M
APPENDIX IV: RECORDING OF TRANSFERS FROM OTHER GOVERNMENT INSTITUTES46



Inrtitute of Certified Investmcnt and Financial Anelyrtr
Anhual Reports gnd tr'inancirl Strtementg
For the yeer ended December 31 ,2023
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Intcrnational Financial Reporting Standards
Financial Analyst
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Ccrtified Public Accountant
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Ccntral Bank of Kenya
National Treasury
Public Finance Managcment
Oftce of Auditor General
Institutc of Certified Investment and Financial Analyets
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II XTY UTATITUTE INTORIATIOI{
Bec}grouad ltrfornltloE
Lcgal UrudatG: The Investment and Financial Analysts Act (No. 13 of 2015) provides for the
establishment, powers and functions of the Institute of Certified Investment and irinancial Analysts
0crFA).
vLlotr strtcEGat: The leading institute for investment and finance professionals.
ltlltoa StatGtaclrt: To Promote excellence and professionalism amongst our members and the
financial industry.

PHaclpal Actlvlttct
a) Promote standards of professional comp€tence and ethical practice amongst members of ICIFA
b) Promote research into the subjects of the securities and investments and related matters, and

the publication of books, periodicals, journals and articles in connection therewith;
c) Promote the International recognition of ICIFA;

d) Advise the regulator for the time being responsible for capital markets in resp€ct of licensing
investment and frnancial analysts;

e) Advise the Examinations Board on matters relating to examinations standards and policies;
f) To design and administer an initial ethics and integrity test for the purpose of determining the

professional suitability of atl its members and to subsequently design and undertale such
continuous development programs for its members.

g) Carry out any other functions prescribed for it under any of the other provisions of the Act or
any other written law.

I\
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OOUXCIL f,EUBERS
The Council consists of Eleven (11) members whose membership is in accordance with the
investment and Financial Analyst Act (No. 13 of 2015) as follows:

STATUTORY COYMITTEE CIIAIRUE

NAUE FOSITIOIT WITH ETTF T TROU
I FFA L€ah Nyambura-Kagumba Chairperson 23-Jun-2o23
2 FA Catherine Karita Vice-Chairperson 25-Jttn-2O21

3

FA Judith A.M. Nyakawa

Member Representing
the National Treasury
and Fronomic
Planning

Reappointed 26-Jun-2O2O

4 FFA Prof. Nicholas Lrtting', PhD, EBS Member Representing
Kasneb Reappointed 24 -Jtn -2022

5
FA Samuel Martin Kamunyu

Membcr Representing
the Capital Markets
Authoriw (CIIrtl

24-Jun-2o22

6
FA Geoffrey Odundo

Member Representing
the Nairobi Securities
Exchanse (NSE)

Reappointed 24-Jun-2O22

7 FA Anthony Mwithiga Member 23-Jun-2023
8 FA Elizabeth Irungu Membcr 23-Jw-2O23
9 FA Patricia Kiwanuka, OGW Member 25-Jun-2O21

10 FA David Kanyi Member 24-Jun-2O22

11 FA Purity Kagendo Member 24-Jun-2o22
t2 FA Diana Muriuki- Maina Secretarv Reappointed 1-Nov-202 1

1 FFA Dr Jonah Aiyabei Registration Committee
Chairman 23-Jrune-2023

2 FFA Job Kihumba Disciplinary Committee
Chairman 23-June-2O23

3 FFA L,azarus Kimangh
Govemance Nomination
and Remuneration
Committee Chairman

23-June-2O23
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IU. COIINCIL If,EUBERA

- /-\T

FFA Lcah llyambura-Kagumba
Chairperson

II
t

FFA l€ah is the Chairperson of ICIFA with effect from 23
June 2023.She is currently the Director, Corporate
Finance at Dyer and Blair Investment Bank since 2014,
having worked with the lirm for 19 years. Previously, she
headed the Research Department. She has had the
privilege to be kad Consultant in Investments, Corporate
Finance, Transaction Advisory, Government
Privatizations, Equity and Debt Funding, Mergers,
Acquisitions and Capital Markets Transactions in Kenya
and the East Africa region. She is also serving as a Board
Member, Uganda Securities Exchange (USE) since
September 202 1.

At ICIFA, she currently serves as the Chairperson of
ICIFA College since 2O20, and is the immediate former
Vice Chairperson of ICIFA Council, which she left after
serving two terms as a Council member during the period
2016 - 2022.

She has been a member of the Registration Committee
since 2022 and previously served as a member of the
Finance & Stratery Committee during the penod, 2O2l -
2022. She also served as Chair of the Membership
Services Committee during the period 2020 - 2O2l alter
serving as Vice Chair of the Committee during the period
2Ol9 - 2O2O, and a member since 2018. She served as a
member of the Professional Standards Committee during
the period 2016 - 2018. She has been instrumental as an
Organizer, Speaker, Panellist and Moderator in various
conferences held by ICIFA since 2016.

nA Catherlrlc Nastta

FA Catherine joined as a Council member on 256 June
2021. She is an Executive leader with over 14 years of
leadership in financial seryices. She is the current
Director, Strateg/, and Investor Relations at Britam
Holdings Plc a position she has held since December 202 1.
Prior to this appointment, she held various roles at NCBA
Investment Bank, as the Executive Director in Charge of
Brokerage, at SBG Securities as Head of Institutional
Clients Sales and Trading, and at Bank of America.

FA Catherine's educational background includes a
Bachelor of Law from the University of Nairobi, a Diploma
in Law from the Kenya School of la.w, an MBA from the
University of Baltimore, and a B.Sc. Information Systems
from the University of Maryland Baltimore County.

She is passionate about educating the youth on investing
and financial planning as well as driving a high-
performance culture within the organizations for which

VtI
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she has worked, simpli$ing procesaes and providing
financial solutions to address various client necds.
She is a thought leader in the industry and was recognizc-
by the Business Daily as a top 40 undcr 4O womcn in
Kenya in 2OL4 for her contributions within thc Capital
Markets and Financial Services Space.
FA Catherine ie the current Chairperson for the
Membershi Services Committee

FA Judtth il.f. Ilyrlrvr, Couacll
acnbcr rcprcrcatlag thc C.btDGt
SccrGtrry, thc ltetloarl Trcuuty &
Plaaltlg

Judith A. M. Nyakawa, an alumnus of the UON,
Daystar and USIU-A, is the Senior Deputy Director,
Financc, at the Pcnsions Department the National
Treasury & Planning. She is a Public Financial
ManagcEent Expcrt with wide ranging experience across
thc Public Scctor. As part of hcr brief, shc has coordinated
various projects funded by Development
Finance Institutions including the African Development
Bank, EU, DFID, JICA, and thc World Bank. She
represents the Cabinet Secretary of the National Treasury
and Planning in the ICIFA Council. She is married to Eldcr
John and are the blesscd parents of 3 sons and guardian
to many other young men and women in varioug
educational institutions. She is a membcr of t]1e Seventh
Day Adventist Church, Karengata. She sits on other
boards in both hcr ofticial and private capacities. She is a
membcr of ICPAK and ICS. In her free time, shc likes
rcading and tcaching and mentoring young people.

FA

FA Sraucl Krnua5nr Igoto3c,
Couacll ncnbcr rcpmroltlag
Crpttrl farlctr Authorlty

FA Samuel Kamunyu Njoroge is the Scnior Managcr,
Education, Awareness & Certification at the Capital
Markets Authority (CMA), Kenya. He holds an MA
(Economics) degree and BA (Economy), First Class
honours, degree, both from University of Nairobi. Hc is an
alumnus of the Fletchcr School kadcrship Program for
Financial Inclusion, Tufts University (USA), and a Ccrtified
Knowledgc Manager (KM Institute, USA)

He has scrved the financial sector at managcment lcvel for
cloee to 2O years in: Education, Awarcncse & Certification,
Special Projecb, Corporate Communications and Market
Development at the CMA, as an Economist at the
Retircment Benefrts Authority (RBAI, as a Rcscarch
Analyst at thc Nahobi Securitics Exchangc (NSE), and as
a Research Associate at the Institute of Policy Analysis and
Research (IPAR).
A.rrong other achicvcmenta, Mr. Njorogc was instrumental
in the establishment of both the capital markcts industry
ccrtification programme in Kenya and thc Growth
Enterprise Market Sep.cnt at the Nairobi Securitics
Exchange. He has also been involvcd in the evaluation and
approval of capital markets products and scrvices from
issucrs and intermediarics as a senior member of the CMA
Compliancc and Facilitation Committee. Further, in 2OO2,
Kamunyu was one of the 50 young Kenyans who devclopcd
a vision for the country's youth under t}le auspices of
Institute of Economic Affairs (IEA) dubbcd -Thc promise of
our gcncration: a proposal for a national vision from

e: Institute of Economic Afiairs 2003''g

VIII
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Samuel has been involved in various national and regional
policy advocacy initiatives over the years, some of which
include: the High-kvel Task Force (HLTF) on the
negotiation of the East African Community Common
Market Protocol, membership to the Technical Committee
of the Joint Financial Sector Regulators Forum in Kenya
and as Kenya's coordinator to the Technical Committees
of the East African Securities Regulatory Authorities
(EASRA).

Kamunyu is a fellow of the Economic Society of Kenya
(ESK), a member of the Institute of Certified Investment
and Financial Analyst (ICIFA), a member of the Kenya
Institute of Management (MKIM), a member of Chartered
Institute for Securities and Investment (MCSI, UK), a
member of Institute of Economic Affairs (lEA), and member
of the Institute of Directors, Kenya (M.loD(K).

FFA Prof. Nlcholar K. Lotttag', PhD,
EBa, IiSC - Councll foobor
rcprcrentlag Laracb

FFA Prof. Nicholas K. Letting', Ph.D., EBS, HSC, a triple
alumnus of the University of Nairobi, currently the
Secretary/Chief Executive Oflicer (CEO) of Kenya
Accountants and Secretaries National Examination Board
(kasneb is the immediate past Vice - Chancellor/ Chief
Executive Oflicer of the Management University of Africa
(MUA). He is a Council Member of ICIFA representing
kasneb.

He joined Kasneb on 2 May 2079. He is responsible for
providing administrative, frnancial and strategic
leadership roles to kasneb fraternity. He is an elected
member of the Institute of Certified Secretaries (lCS). He
was Chairman of the Institute of Certified Public
Secretaries of Kenya (ICPSK) in 2014-2016. He is a Fellow
of the Institute of Certified Secretaries (lCS), the lnstitute
of Certifred Public Accountants of Kenya (ICPAK) and the
Kenya Institute of Management (KIM) and a Member in
good standing of Institute of Certifred Investments alld
Financial Analysts (ICIFA), Institute of Directors (IoD) and
Institute of Human Resource Management (IHRM). He is
also a member of Council/Board in ICPAK, ICS and ICIFA
and chairs various Committees. He is Honorary Treasurer
at the Association of Professional Societies of East Africa
(APSEA). He represents APSEA on the Board of Public
Sector Accounting Standards Board (PSASB) and
Treasurer with the Kenya Red Cross Society (KRCS), Lower
Eastern Region (LER).

Prof. Letting'holds a Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) in
Business Administration (Strategic Management), Master
of Business Administration (MBA) and Bachelor of
Commerce (8. Com) (Marketing option) degrees from the
University of Nairobi. He is a holder Final Certificates from
kasneb in the following Professional Qualifications:
Certified Public Accountant (CPA); Certilied Public
Secretary (CPS) and Certified Investments and Financial
Aralyst (CIFA). He holds several Certifrcates from the
following: Kenya School of Government (KSG); Strathmore
Business School (SBS); ICPAK; ICS; ICIFA and is a

IX
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Certified Mental Health
for short - tcrm course

Coach from Light University, USA
s undertaken from time to time e

part of lifelong leaming. His core competences are: as -change agent, transformative leader, networking and
mentorship coach and fundraiscr for worthy humanitarian
causes such as supporting bright needy students in
tertiary institutions.
Prof. Letting'has over 24 years' experience in industry and
academia in private, public and not for profit organizations
having worked with kasneb, MUA, KIM and BAT Kenya. As
an industry practtioner, he has been a CEO for ovcr l0
years. As a scholar (Senior lrcturer), he has taught in high
schools and several Universities in Kenya. He has
facilitated in several local and international confcrences,
published widely in refereed journals and successfully
supervised nine (9) PhD and over forty (40) Masters, degree
students from both public and private Universities. He is
an External Examiner in leading Universities in the region.
He has travelled widely to over 10 countries/cities globally
to attend and facilitate seminars and workshops and
exchange programmes. ln 2O2O Dr letting,was awarded
the Elder of the Order of the Burning Spear (EBS) and in
2Ol2 he received the Head of State of Commendation
(HSC) for his contribution to the development of the
country in the education sector. He is an active
contributor on corporate governance (board related),
executive and strategic leadership, finance and
investments, education and training streams on business
related as aspects among University and Technical
Training Institutions and occasionally comments on
emerging issues in both electronic and print media. He has
been a Board/Council Membcr of several private, public
and not for profit organizations including the Kenya
Institute of Curriculum Developmcnt (KICD), Karura
Adventist School and the Nationa.l Commission for Science
Technologr Innovatione (NACOSTI). He has been a
member of Multi - Agency Tasldorces (MAT) in The
National Treasury for the review of the Accountants' Act
and the Certilied Secretaries' Act amendments and
drafting of regulations. He has volunteered in many
societal deve t and humanitarian matters

FA Gcofhcy Odundo, Couacll
racrnbcr rc prcrcatlng lfelrobl
EGcurltlG. Drchrngc

FA Geoffrey Odundo has been a Counci.l Member since 2"d
July 2O19. FA Odundo is the Chief Executive ofthe Nairobi
Securities Exchange Plc (NSE) a position he has held for
the last seven (7) years. He is an accomplished Investment
Banker and has been in the financial services sector for
the last 30 years holding senior roles in Asset
Management, Corporate Finance and Securities Trading.
Prior to this, he was the Managing Director of Kingdom
Securities Limited and Chief Manager, Merchant and
Investment Banking at the Co-operative Bank of Kenya
Group.
FA Odundo is a Director of the Central Depository and
Setflement Corporation Limited; NSE Clear Limited and
Trustee of the NSE Fidelity Funds. He is the Vice
Chairman of the REITs Association of Kenya (RAK) and a
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past Director of the Association of Stock Exchanges of
Africa (ASEA).
FA Odundo is a Council Member of the Institute of
Certilied Financial Analysts (ICIFA), member of Working
Committee of the World Federation of Exchanges (WFE)
and a member of the Central Bank of Kenya's Consolidated
Fund for Debt Management (CFDDM) Committee.
He holds a Master's Degree in Strategic Management and
an undergraduate degree in Mathematics and Economics
and is an Advanced Management Program (AMP) graduate
from Strathmore /IESE (Spain) Business School.

FA Ellzaboth lruagu

FA Elizabeth is a Council Member of ICIFA elected on 23
June 2023. She currently serves as a member of the
Investment Performance and ESG Reporting Standards
Tasldorce and has participated in ICIFA CPD programmes
and conferences as a Sp€aker and Mentor to CIFA
graduates.

She is a trained Economist and seasoned fund manager
with over 17 years' investment management and
leadership experience. She currently serves as the Chief
Executive Officer of Absa Asset Management Limited, a
leading fund manager owned by Absa Bank Plc. Prior to
joining Absa, she was the General Manager, Business
Development and Client Relations at ICEA LION Asset
Management Limited until Au gust 2022. Prior to this, she
worked at Britam Asset Managers and STANLIB Kenya as
the Chief Investrnent Officer and Portfolio Manager
respectively handling portfolios of more than USD I
bi-llion. She started as an Economist in the Oflice of t]le
President before transitioning to an Analyst with African
Alliance Investrnent Bank. She is also a Board Committee
member of the CFA Institute, Disciplinary Review
Committee.
She holds a Master's degree in Economics from the
University of Nairobi and is a CFAQ Charter holder from
CFA Institute. She is passionate about financial markets,
Economics, investments, TechWealth, and enjoys writing
articles and training in these areas.
She believes she brings gender diversity, skills in industry,
professional conduct, professional papers credentialing,
industry b€st practices as well as training skills.

FA Petrlcte Klwanuka, OG}W

lai
,1, i

FA Patricia joined as Council Member on 256 June 2021.
She is the chairperson of Audit, Risk and Compliance. FA
Patricia is an accomplished financia.l services and
management exp€rt, currently Managing Director and
Founder of Revenue Stream Limited. Revenue Stream
Limited is a financial consulting frrm with solutions
tailored towards both corporates and indiyiduals across
{inancial wellness, retirement planning and money
therapy, through which we assist clients reengineer their
behavioural relationship with money. The business was
established in 2017.Ms. Kiwanuka has worked for more
than 20 years in Eastern Africa at leading financial
institutions including Old Mutual (including UAP), Sanlam
(formerly AIG Investments), Zatnara Actuaries,
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Consultants and Administrators (formcrly Alexander
Forb€s) amongst others. She holds board positions at NS
Clear Ltd, WPP Scanad and AAR Insurance Kenya, is _
trustee of Banki Kuu (Central Bank of Kenya) Scheme and
a Council Member of United States Intcrnational
University - Africa She is a CFA(R) Charter holder and
member of the CFA Institute - USA, a Council membcr and
member of the Institute of Certilied Investrnent and
Financial Analysts, ICIFA - Kenya. She holds a Masters in
Counselling Psychologr, Masters of Busincss
Administration (Finance) and Bachelor of Science Degree
(Actuarial Science/ Statistics). Ms. Kiwanuka also
attended executive management course at INSEAD
Business School, Strathmore Business School ataongst
ottrers. In recognition of her contributions in her industry
and society, Patricia was awarded the Head of State
commendation of Order of the Golden Warrior (OGW). Shc
is an Offrcer in the Order of St. John bv the hand of Her
Majesty the Queen for her volunteer. pa-tricia is a Charter
Member of Rotary Club of Upper Hill and paul Harris
Fellow (PHF+ 1).

FA Aathony llrltfilga
f(

FA Anthony Mwithiga joined as a Council member on 26th
June 2020. He is an investment management profcasional
with over 2O years' experience in managing multi-aesct
class investment portfolios of pcnsion schemes, insurance
companiea, unit trusts and high net worth individuals
across East Africa. FA Anthony is Group Managing
Director for Old Mutua.l Investment Group (OMIG) - East
Africa and previously served as Chief Executive Olfrcer of
Abea Asset Management Kenya and Chicf Investment
OIIicer at both NCBA Investment bank and Stanbic
Investments/ Stanlib Kenya. FA Anthony is an ICIFA
Council Member and Chairs its Professional Standards
Committee as well as the Investment Performance and
ESG Reporting Standards (IPERS) task force of ICIFA. He
is also a Council Member of the Fund Managers
Association (FMA) and chairs its Public Markets
Committee. Anthony posgesses undergraduate and
graduate qualifications in Math, Economics and Finance
and he is a fuU member of ICIFA and Chartered Institute

Investment (CISI) - UKfor Securities and

FA Purtty Kegcndo

.t

FA f\rrity joincd as a Council Member on 24 June 2022.
Shc has previously scrved in the Education and Research
Committee. During the tenure, the Committee hag
developed training manuals and curricula, and promoted
rescarch in the subject of investments and frnencial
related matters, publication of books, pcriodicals, journals
and articlee, as per the IFA Act.
She holds a Bachelor's and Master's degrees in economics
and presently pursuing a PhD in economics from the
Univereity of Nairobi.
She has over 10 years of experience and a wide wealth of
experience in banking, policy analysis, training research
and consultancy. Currently, she works with Kcnya School
of Government as a trainer, regearcher and consultant.
She has undertaken high prolile research and
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consultancies in performance management in human
resource development, corporate governance,
organizational development and surveys. She teaches and
coordinates various programs: corporate governance and
induction course for public sector boards; senior
management; finance for non-finance and strategic
leadership and development program.
She has worked urith Kenya Institute for Public Policy and
Research Analysis, ABC Bank, KCB Bank, Faulu
Microfinance Bank and Uwezo Micro-finance.

FA Davtd Xerl

FA David joined as a Council Member on 24 J:ur:e 2022.
He is a dedicated, diligent and hardworking Financial
Services professional. He has over 18 years of Capital
Markets experience having worked at the Capital Markets
Authority transitioning to the Telecommunications Sector
to join Safaricom PLC n 2021. Currently, he is the Senior
Manager, Digital Financial Services at Safaricom PLC,
where he is responsible for developing digital frnancial
services with the goal of fostering a saving culture,
empowering Kenyans, and improving their financial health
through M-PESA. Previously, he held various positions in
the capital markets environment, including Head of
Market Deepening, Market Surveillance in Derivatives and
Cash Market at both the Capital Markets Authority (CMA)
and the Nairobi Securities Exchange (NSE).
As a Champion at the Capital Markets Authority, he was
instrumental in shaping and implementing the Capital
Markets Master Plan and setting up Market Deepening
departments and promoting regional integration within
thE EAC.
He holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree in Finance from
the University of Nairobi. He is a.lso a member of the Kenya
Institute of Management. He is currently pursuing a
Master of Science in Finance and Investment at l€icester
University.
His passion is to develop the next generation of financial
services professionals by ensuring that the link between
theory and practice is well articulated through relevant
curriculum and to drive Fintech acceptance as a lifestyle.
Away from his busy schedule, he enjoys golling and
reading blogs about Fintech and current events, both local
and global.

xilt



Institute of Certilied Investment and Financial Anslvsts
Annual Reports and Financial Statements
For the ear ended December 3l 2023

FFA Lazarus Kimangh is the Chairman of Governance,
Nomination and Remuneration Committee. He hr
previously worked served as Chairman of the Institute an_
as General Manager and Company Secretary of East Africa
Re. He is the Company Secretary of WAICA Re Kenya and
is the Vice-Chairman of St John Ambulance Kenya. He
holds MCom in International Business Management from
Strathmore University and MBA in Finance from the
University of Nairobi, and also trained in Financial
Management at Templeton College, University of Oxford.
He is a Fellow Certified Investment and Financial Analyst
(FCIFA), Fellow Certified Public Accountant (FCpA) and
Fellow Certified Secretary (FCS). He is also a member of
the Chartered Institute for Securities and Investments
(MCIS). He has served as a Board member of the public
Sector Accounting Standards Board (PSASB) and as
Chairman of the Govemance and Strate$., Committee. He
served as Secretary General of the Organisation of Eastern
and Southern Africa Insurers (OESAI) and as a Board
member of the College of Insurance, Nairobi as well as a
Board member and Chairman of the Board Audit
Committee of K-Rep Bank. He is a Board member and
Chairman of the Finance Committee of Interpeace Eastern
and Central Africa, an arm of Interpeace International,
Geneva.

FFA Lazarus was conferred with a Presidential award of
the Elder of Burning Spear (EBS) in recognition of his
contribution to the nation and society, having been earlier
awarded the Moran of Burning Spear (MBS) and the Silver
Star of Kenya (SS). He was knighted in the Order of St
John the then her Ma the ueen of E de

FFA Lazaro KlEaDg'a, EBg
Chalrman, Govcrna,ncG, Nomlnatloa
aad Remuaeratlon Conmlttcc

FPA Dr. Jouah Alyabcl,
Chalrnan, Rcsbtrauon CoEElttcc

FFA Dr. Jonah Aiyabei, PhD is the chairman of registration
committee and immediate former Chairman of the
Institute of Certified Investment and Financial Analysts.
Currently the Chief Executive Offrcer of the t\rblic Service
Superannuation Fund (PSSF). He also served as the
Director of Morendat lnstitute of Oil and Gas (MIOG),
Kenya Pipeline Company (KPC, having been the Trust
Secretary of KPC Pension Schemes. Prior to joining KPC,
He was a lecturer at Catholic University of Eastem Africa.
He has taught Finance and Strategic Management in
various universities in Kenya. He serves as a Council
member of Mount Kenya University and a member of
Kasneb Technical Examination Committee. Dr. Aiyabei
has over 18 years of experience as a trainer in Finance and
Investment.
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FFA Job Klhumba
Chalrman, Dlrclplluary CoErrlttee

FFA Job Kihumba is the chairman of the Disciplinary
Committee. He the Executive Director at the Standard
Investment Bank with expertise in investment and finance
management, corporate finance, institutional development
corporate governance and leadership development. He has
interests in environmental management, GHG emissions,
climate change adaptation and mitigation. He has
conducted workshops and seminars to create awareness
in those areas. He served as the lirst CEO of the Nairobi
Securities Exchange and its Vice- Chairman and also was
a Founder and Chairman of the Centre for Govemance.
Job is the current chairman of the Institute of Certified
Investment and Financial Analysis and Chairman of the
College of Fellows of that Institute. He was also a founder
member of the Institute of Directors, Kenya, and served as
the chairman ofthe lnstitute of Certified Public Secretaries
of Kenya. He has served in other corporate boards and
institutions in both the public and private sectors. Mr.
Kihumba is a commonwealth certified trainer in corporate
govemance and holds a Master's Degree in Business
Administration from Buckingham Management Centre
(UK) and a diploma in Management Science from Kenya
Institute of management. He is also a member of several
professional associations.

FA Dtana Murlukl-Malna
CEO & Secretary to thc Couacll

FA Diana Muriuki-Maina joined ICIFA as the Chief
Executive Officer and Secretary to the Council on 1st

November 2018. She has over 14 years' experience in the
financial services industry having worked at Actuarial
Services (EA) Limited. She previously served as a Senior
Manager, lnvestments at Actuarial Services (EA) Limited
where she excelled in previous Investment
Specialist/ Consultant and Analyst assignments. During
her tenure at Actuarial Services (EA) Limited she was
instrumental in establishing processes and business
relationships that enhanced business development. She
has a,lso served as Investment Officer and Head of Member
Services at Arima Fund Limited. She has a deep
understanding and knowledge of the investment industry
having provided investment advisory services to numerous
pension schemes in Kenya. She is a member of the
Institute of Certihed Investment and Financial Analysts
(ICIFA) and the Chartered Institute for Securities and
Investments (CISI) and holds a Master of Science in
Finance ald Bachelors in Economics and Statistics both
from University of Nairobi and a Graduate diploma in
Actuarial Science. She also holds Certifications in
Corporate Governance for Directors by the Centre of
Corporate Governance, Transformational kadership and
Public Speaking.
She is a recipient of the "Top 40 Under 40 Women Award"
in the year 2O19 by the Business Daily Africa which is an
award that recognizes the most influential and progressive
women in Corporate Kenya.
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IV. UAIIAGEUEIIT TTA.U

FA Diena Muriuki-Maina Chicf E:rccutive Ofrccr-Embu

FA CPA Collins Mindoti Finance and Administration Manager-
Luhya

CPA C:'prian Sila Financc Officcr-Kamba

Yegon Sammy Meobcr Scrvices Officcr- IGlcnjin

Tony Juma Rescarch Olliccr-Luo

Carcl Kiruki Marketing OfEccr-Kikuyu

Victoria Mugure OEcc Assistant-Kikuyu
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V. CHAIRPERSON'S STATEMEITT

On behalf of the Council, it is my privilege to present the annual report

and financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2023

The Council is responsible for the strategic direction and oversight of the Institute of Certified

Investment and Financial Analysts (ICIFA). In this regard, I am honoured to reflect on the

achievements, progress and milestones accomplished over the past year.

STRATBGIC FOCUS

ICIFA's primary focus is on three key strategic pillars as per the strategic plan (year 2O2l - 20251

presented as follows:

i) Member development services;

ii) Building institutional capacity; and

iii) Building market standards and practices.

The strategic objectives derived from the pitlars are as follows:

i) To promote professional ethics;

ii) To promote trainings in investment and finance;

iii) To promote investment research;

ir,) To provide added value to members;

v) To ensure frnancial sustainability of the Institute;

vr) To offer Licensing and Certification of practitioners;

vii) To provide market surveillance; and

viii) To be a voice of the industry.

The delivery of the objectives will remain guided by our core values of integrity, competence,

innovation, fairness and accountable in addition to the functions of ICIFA as stipulated under section

8 of the Investment and Financial Analysts Act No. 13 of 2015 (IFA Act). We will foster a culture of
member-needs driven decisions and enhanced member service in a purposefully collaborative

environment.
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ME![BERSHIP

The Institute's membership continues to grow steadily and as at 31 December 2023 stood at a total
1,3o7 members, of whom 1,o16 were Full members and 291 were Associate members. out of the
1,0 16 F\lI members, 289 have been granted Practising Licences. A total of 254 new Full and Associate
members joined the Institute during the year compared to 66 in 2022 which was a major increase
mainly due to registration of Practitioners under subsections 16 (2) and (3) of the IFA Act.

HeartJr congratulations to the Council and the Registration Committee for continuing to do an
excePtional job of vetting, registering and licensing new members. The Membcrship Services
Committee and the Secretariat also deserve special mention for their recruitment efforts. The
Institute's plan is for Kenya and the region to have a vibrant critical mass of investment and finance
professionals of integrity who are well equipped with skills and knowledge to help steer our economic
and social transformation-

with regard to registered firms, to date 112 frrms been registered, up from l0g the previous year,
categorized into securities exchange, fund management, investment banking, stockbroking,
investment and transaction advisors and investment and financia-l advisorv firms.

PROUOTNIG EXCELLEITCE AND PR,OFESAIOI{ALIAU

Excellence and professionalism are at the core of our mission at ICIFA. We have continued to offer
exceptional programs, initiatives and resources designed to promote professional development,
enhance skills and foster innovation within the investment and finance profession. This was

culrninated by the 6tt' Annual Conference which focused on promoting excellence and professionalism
in the financia-l service industry celebrating excellence in all its forms, inspiring our members to be

excellent professionals in the industry.

PARTT{ERSIIIPB AITD COLL/IBORATIOIT WI?II OTIIER ORGAINZATIOI{S

We continued to maintain strong working relationships with our partner organizations during the year

such as The National Treasury and Economic Planning, Kasneb, Capital Markets Authority (CMA),

Nairobi Securities Exchange (NSE), Chartered Institute for Securities & Investment (CISI), Association

of Professional Societies in East Africa (APSEA), Public Sector Accounting Standards Board (PSASB),

Association of Certified International Investment Analysts (ACIIA), African Securities Exchanges

Association (ASEA) and Fund Managers Association (FMA). We are currently planning to collaborate

with other organizations such as the East African Community (EAC), Ministry of Investments, Trade

and Industry (MITI), Retirement Benefits Authority (RBA), lnsurance Regulatory Authority (lRA), Kenya

Association of Stockbrokers and Investment Banks (KASIB), and the Konza Technopolis Development

Authority among others to explore specific areas of focus for mutual co-operation. I am sure you soon

\\ lll
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will see developments in the planned collaborative initiatives which we believe will greatly impact the

Institute positively.

WAY FORWARI)

ICIFA will continue to focus on member development services, building institutional capacity and

building market standards and practices in order to promote and monitor compliance with standards

of professional competence and ethical practice and enhancing professiona.lism in the investment and
financial sector. The ongoing investment in Investment Performance and ESG Reporting Standards,
quality assurance programmes, ICT infrastructure and services will add impetus to enhancement of
the desired level of member satisfaction.

APPRTCIATIOIY

In conclusion, on behalf of the Council I would like to express our heartfelt gratitude to our memb€rs

for their unwavering support, dedication and commitment to excellence. It is through your enthusiasm

and active participation that ICIFA continues to thrive and make a positive impact in our profession.

I am also most grateful to members of the Council, Committees and Secretariat of the Institute for the

support rendered to the growth and development of the Institute since the beginning of my tenure in
2023.

I appreciate the relentless support ofour partners and staleholders. I especially appreciate the great

support I have received from the members since allowing me to serve as your Chairman. As we

continue our journey of excellence and professionalism, let us reaffrrm our commitment to advancing

our profession by abiding by the highest standards ofethics and supporting each other along the way.

()5
rFA LEAII I TAUBT'RA.XAG}I'UBA
CHAIRPERSON
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VI. RTPORT OF TIIE CIIIEF Ef,rcUTryE OFTICER

The financial year 2023 was a year of progress for ICIFA. The year
witnessed the culmination of a number of initiatives in line with the
strategic objectives in the new strategic plan launched on 25 June
2021. T}]e vision of ICIFA which is to be "the leading institute for
investment and finance professionals" is aligned to ICIFA,S legal

mandate of promoting and monitoring compliance with standards of
professional competence and ethical practice in the investment and
financial sector. The strategic plan also highlights the activities that

shall support the three strategic pillars: member development services, building institutional capacity
and building market standards and practices.

The following are some of the key highlights of the financial year:

FINANCIAL PERTORMA CE

At an income of Kshs 49.31 million in 2023, the Institute recorded a 437o increase of revenue up from
Kshs. 34.49 million in 2022. The high income growth resulted to a surplus of Kshs 8.58 million
compared to the previous year's deficit of Kshs 4.43 million in 2022. Tl,.e increase in surplus was
mainly attributed to significant increase in registration of practitioners under section 16 of the IFA
Act, member service activities and joint professional development programs with our partners. There
was further enhancement of provisioning for impairment in compliance with IFRS g requirements.
Once again, we urge members to settle their outstanding annual subscriptions and ensure CPD

compliance in order to ensure the self-sustainability of the Institute.

KTY ACTryITIESI

I am also glad to report a few activities that have been automated such as electronic elections,

digitization ofthe accounting processes, revamped member portal having been on boarded to e-citizen
including automation of the CPD log which we plan to integrate with the accounting systems to make
our processes more effective and efficient during the year 2024.

Two issues ofthe "lnvestment Review" journal which is the Institute's journal that features articles by
members of the Institute to promote professional development and research in the area of investment
and finance, were circulated to members in the course of the year. we encourage members to
participate in submission of articles aligned to the Journal theme which contribute to professional

development. We thank the Regulations, Standards and Research Committee for the oversight role of
the Journal review.
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The Institute is in the process of linalizing Investment Performance and ESG Reporting Standards

aimed at standardization of investment performance reports and ESG disclosures in Kenya to
harmonize investment pe rformance reporting and provide guidelines for ESG disclosures in
investment reporting across Kenya and the region. The Council of ICIFA has established a ten (10)

member tasldorce consisting of ICIFA Members with technical experience in the financial services

industry, representatives of the financial services regulators i.e. Central Bank of Kenya, Capital

Markets Authority, Retirement Benefits Authority, Insurance Regulatory Authority, Sacco Societies

Regulatory Authority and the Nairobi Securities Exchange to drive the Investment Performance and

ESG Reporting Standards implementation exercise which is expected to be launched within the year

2024.

ICIFA COLLE,GE

We are pleased that the 'ICIFA College" is now registered by TVETA and was launched on 23 June

2023. This has paved the way for tuition of Kasneb professional qualifications with the main focus on

CIFA trainings as well as various fields in the investment and finance with other related course

offerings. The College will also provide an opportunity to our members to play a role in the growth of
the College through its training capacity programmes.

UENTORSIIIP AITD IT{TERI{SHIP ARRANGEUEITTs

An Apprenticeship program is expected to be launched in the year 2024 aimed at creating a mentorship

and internship platform for CIFA graduates. We continue to appeal to the Practising members and

registered frrms of the lnstitute, to extend internship opportunities to CIFA graduates for mentorship,

training and growth prospects within the industry. This will greatly enhance acceptance of the CIFA

qua[fication and attainment of the required minimum period of experience of 3 years and 4 years

before being eligible for Full membership and Practising status respectively.

I thank the Council Statutory and Council Committees, Secretariat and all stakeholders for their
commitment, dedication and support during the year.

FA DIANA III'RIUXI.UAINA
CHIEF E;XECUTIVE Or.FICTR
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VU. SIATEUEITT OF PERF,OUAI{CE ACAIITAT PREDETERUIIIED O&'ECTIVEA FOR rr
202212023

a) Mcnbor R. glttrrtloat

The Institute's legal mandate of registering Certified Investment and Financia.l Analysts and issuing
practicing certificates to those who are eligible to offer services to the public as Investment and Finance
Professionals continued to b€ a focus of the period. The following is a summary of comparative
registrations and issues of practicing certificates for 2023.
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Prscttclng 243 289 6

The Institute registered 254 new members during the year 2023 primarily due to the notilication of
approved qualifications that ran from January to March 2023. The Secretariat are committed to ensure

continuous recruitment of new members.
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bf Contlauour Profc$lonal DcvclopEcnt PrograEEc.

The Institute's mandate also includcs provision of continuous professional development programs to

its members. The following is a summar5r of the number of CPD events held in 2023.
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63 51 12 9 15 5 15 7 15 7 57 28

Confcroncor 2 2 0 0 I I o 0 0 1 2 2

The number of online trainings administered during the period of 2023 was below target due to low

uptake of online modules and revamping of the online portal as well as political demonstration

experiencing in first quarter of 2O23.
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VIIL CORPORATE GX)IIERITfiTCE STATEUEIIT

The Institute has adopted high etandarde and applies strict rules of conduct, based on the bcst
corporate practiccs. As part of this commitmcflt, the Council adher€s to good corporate toverrrance
by cmbracing thc following principles:

i. To observc high standards of ethical and moral bchaviour;
ii. To act in thc best intercsts of tJ:e Institute;
iii. To rcmunerate and promotc fairly and responeibly;

iv. To recognizc the legitimate interests of all stakeholdcrs; and
v. To ensurc that thc Institute acts as a good corporate citizen.

In general, Council membcrs thall act in tfre best intcr€st of t}Ie Institute and uphold their fiduciary
responsibilities and duty of care. Thia involves not disclosing confidential information, avoiding real
and pcrccived conjlicts of intcrest, and favouring the intcrcEts of the Institutc over otlcr intereBtB.
Thcy will act honesfly and in good faith eo ae to cr€ate a culture built on principles of integrity,
accountability and transparency.

Gccrnrncc Stfirctura

The Council and the Statutory Committces is tJ:c higheat decision-making organ. Ttrc Council is
organized furthcr into Council committees for better detvery of rrspective functions and governance.

Gccnrrrroc Orgerrogna

Stalulr)r\
( orn nr it I tcs

( ouncil ( onrrlitlcrr

( c

Src rrtr ri:ll
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The objective of a well-structured governance and management system is to:

i. ensure clarity in the roles and responsibilities of team members and stakeholders;

ii. provide the ability to monitor that member services are fully atigned to and supportive of IFA

Act policies and strategies;

iii. faciutate close engagement on memb€r exp€ctations and capacity building efforts to maximise

effectiveness of ICIFA; and

iv. define clear lines of reporting and communication between stakeholders; ensures that
objectives of ICIFA are realised.

Membcrr of thc Councll
The Council consists of eleven members as follows:

i. a chairperson elected at an annual general meeting of the Institute;
ii. one member to represent t}re ministry responsible for matters relating to finance;

iii. one member to represent the regulator for the time being responsible for capital markets;
iv. one member to represent the Examinations Board;

v. one member appointed by the Council to represent Securities Exchanges; and
vi. six members elected at an annual general meeting of the Institute (one of whom shall be the

Vice-Chairperson).

The Chief Executive Ollicer is an ex-olficio member of the Council. The Council meets at least four
times a year, with additional meetings being held on a need basis. The Council has delegated

authority for the day-to-day operations to the Chief Executive OIIicer who is a.lso the Secretary to the
Council. The members of the Council are provided with appropriate and timely information to enable

them discharge their responsibi-lities and maintain full and eflective control over strategic, financial,

operational and compliance issues.
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Conmlttccr of thc Couacll
The Council has the authority to establish committees and to delegate powers to the committees.
The purpose of the committces is to assist the Council in the achievement of its stated mandate. The
Committee Members shall be appointed from amongst its Members subject to the appl.icable laws
The Council, while recognizing that certain powers can be delegated to the committees, realfrrms
that the ultimate accountability for such matters remaina with the Council, which must exercise its
decision making responsibility accordingly. The terms of reference for Committees of the Council are
provided in the respective committee charter. However, the IFA Act provides and defines the roles
and responsibilities of the two Statutory Committees which are:

i. Registration Committee and

ii. DisciplinaryCommittee

The Committees established by the Council are:

i. Governance, Nomination and Remuneration

ii. Finance and Strates/

iii. Audit, Risk and Compliance

iv. MembershipDevelopment

v. Regulations Standard and Research

The Committees report to the Council on matters referred to it by the Council and on the proceedings

following each meeting of the committee. The reports include findings, matters identilied for specific
recommendation to the Council, action points and any other issues as deemed appropriate. The
Committees liaise with each other in so far as it is expedient to effectively perform their different roles.

The Council appoints the Chairpersons ofthe Committees and reviews and approves appropriate terms
of reference for the Committees. The Council may be required to establish other Committees from time
to time.
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Council and Committee Members who served during the Iinancial year 2023

wer€ aa shown below:

oouxclL rFr"IYIlJG

ATTETDAITCE AT IITVITATION
STATITNORY COUUITTEts CHAIRTEN

The Council held 5 meetings tn 2023 (2022: 41.

REGISf,RATIOT OOUUTTTEE

lOOo/o

lOOo/o

lOOo/o

lOOo/"

TOOo/"

lOOo/"

lOOo/o

lOOo/"

lOOo/o

lOOo/"

lOOo/"

lOOo/o

lOOo/"

lOOo/o

lOOo/"

TOOo/"

lOOo/o

1O0o/o

WanjiruFFA L.ah
Nyambura Chair Pcrson OlJul-23 To Date 5 s/s
FA Catherine Karito Vice Chair OlJul-22 To Date 5 s/s
FA Einstein Kihanda

Member 0lJul-21 To Date 5 s/s
FA Dir. Jonah Kipkogei
Aiyabei Member 01-Jul-22 To Date 5 s/s
FA Geoffrey Otieno Odundo Member 0lJul-22 To Date 5 5/s
FFA Job Kimani Kihumba

Member ol-Ju1-22 To Date 5 5/s
FFA Prof. Nicholas Kibiwott
Irttinc Member 01Jul-22 To Date 5 sls
FA Anthony Mwithiga Mcmber O lJul-22 To Date 5 s/s

AkungaFFA Lazaro
Kimang'a Member O lJul-22 To Date 5 s/s
FA Judith Nyakawa (NT)

Member OlJul-22 To Date 5 s/s
FA Patricia Kiwanuka

Member Ol-Jrtl-22 To Date 5 s/s
FA Purity Kagendo

Member 0lJul-22 To Datc 5 s/s
NjorogeFA Samuel

Kamunyu Member 0lJul-22 To Date 5 s/5
FA Eli'a5sth 1ru.9u Membcr OlJul-23 To Date 3 3/3
FA David Kanyi

Member OlJul-22 To Date 5 s/5

FFA Dr Jonah Aiyabci Registration
Committee Chairman

25June-
2022

To Date 5 s/s

FFA Job Kihumba Chairman,
Disciplinary
COrnrnitfe€

2SJune-
2022

To Date 5 s/s

FFA lazarus Kimang'a Governance
Nomination and
Remuneration
Cornrnittee Chairman

25June-
2022

To Date 5 s/s
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The Registration Committce reccives, deliberatee and approves applications for r€gistration
Investment Financial Analysts and g:ants practising certificates in accordance with the provision of
the Investment and Financial Analysts Act.

REGIATRATIOT OOUIITIEE IEEIIITGA ATTEXTDATTCE 2Oi!3

The Registration Committee held 5 meetings in 2O23 (2022: 4l

lutuE F()sITIO!T W.E.F To UEETIITG
ATTEITDAITCE

FFA Jonah Aiyabci
Chairrnan 01Ju1-22 To Date 5 s/s 100%

AkungaFFA l.azero
KimanCa Member O1-Jul-22 To Date 4 4ls 8Oo/"

FA Kuria Waithaka
Member 01Jul-22 To Date 5 s/s lOOo/o

FA Indeje Wanyama
Membcr 0lJul-23 To Date I rlr tooo/"

FA Joseph Ndungu
Mcmber 0lJul-22 3OJun-23 5 s/s lOOo/"

FA Esther Manthi
Membcr Ol-h:l-22 To Date I r/r lOOo/o

FA Danicl Wamtere
Member O lJul-22 To Date 4 415 8Oo/"

FA John Kirimi
Member 0lJul-22 To Date 5 s/s lOOo/o

FA Nicholas Ithondeka
Member 0lJul-22 To Date 5 s/s LOOo/"

FFA L.ah Wanjiru
Mcmber O lJul-22 To Date 5 s/s lOOo/"

FA Stanley Mutuku
Member 01Jul-22 To Date 5 s/s lOOo/"
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DIACPLINARY COUUITTIE
Ttre role of the Disciplinary Committcc is to handle disciplinar5r matters in accordance with the
Investment and Financial Analysts Act (No. 1 3 of 2O I 5) .

DIACIPIJXARY OOITITTEE TTEET{I|GS A, TENDAITCE 2023

The Disciplinary Committee held 2 meeting in 2O23 (2022: 71.

(x)vERNArrcE, ItouINATrOr AIID REUTTNERATTOT (Cr$ COUUrrrEr
UEEIIITGS ATTEIIDAITC.E. 2(}23

T?re Governance, Nomination and Remuncration Committee held 4 meetings in 2O23 (2022: Sl.

FA Job Kihumba Chrlr?ann 0lJuI-22 To Date 2 2t2 lOOo/o

FA Stephen Ikikii Icnbcr OlJul-22 To Dete 2 212 lOOo/o

FA James Gitltu fcmbcr 0lJul-22 To Date 2 2t2 lOOo/"

FA Brcnda Odiembo [cmbcr O1-Jrul-22 To Date 2 212 TOOo/o

FA James Githu f,cnbcr O 1Jul-23 To Date 2 212 lOOo/"

FA Judith Oduge f,oabcr O lJul-22 To Date 1 U2 5Oo/o

Duncan ElIyFFA Dr.
Ochien'R Ucnbcr Ol-Jul-22 To Datc 2 2/2 lOOo/o

AkungaFfA Lazaro
Kimang'a Chairman OlJrrl-22 To Date 4 4/4 lOOo/"

FFA Jonah Aiyabei Member Ol Jul-22 To Date 4 414 TOOo/o

FA Einstein Kihanda Mcmber 01Jul-22 To Date 3 3t4 7 5o/o

FFA Prof Nicholas L€tting Member 0lJul-22 To Date 4 414 100o/o

FfA Irah Nyambura Membcr 0lJul-22 To Date I rlr lOOo/o

FA Judith Nyakawa
Member Ol-Jttl-22 To Date 4 414 lOOo/"

KamunyuFA Samuel
Nioroce Member 0lJul-23 To Date 4 414 tooyo

FA Job Kihumba
Member Ol Jul-22 To Date 4 414 100%
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TNTAITCE Al[D ATRATECY COffiTTEE
UEEf,IIIGS ATTETDATCD 2lJ,,,3

T?re Finance and Stratery Committee held 6 meetings irr 2O2A (2022: Sl

aulrrf, Rr8tr AIID COUPITATTCE COUUITTEE
UEETNTGA A?TETTDAXCE 2O1' 3

The Audit, Risk and Compliance Committce held 4 mectings n 2023 (2022: 4l

100%

lOOo/o

LOOo/a

TOOo/o

lOOo/o

83Vo

83o/o

Kibiwott
FFA Prof, Nicholas

Chairman OlJul-22 To Date 6 616
FA Edwin Njamura

Membcr 0l Jul-22 To Date 6 6t6
FA Evans Moturi

Member OlJul-22 30Jun-23 3 3t3
FA Judith Nyakawa

Member 0lJul-22 To Date 6 6/6
FA Nyale Yanga

Member OlJul-23 To Date 2 2/2
FA Judith Bonareri

Member OlJul-22 To Date 5 sl6
FA Isaac Otolo

Member 01Jul-22 To Date 5 st6

FA Patricia Kiwanuka Cbrlrponoa OlJul-22 To Date 4 4/4 lOOo/o

FA Isaac Ogutu fcnbcr 01Jul-22 To Date 4 414 lOOo/o

FA David Kanyi fcnbcr 0lJul-23 To Date 2 r/2 5oo/o

FA Ken Kiboss fcnbcr OlJul-22 To Date 4 414 lOOo/"

FA Erick Achola Ombuoro Ucabcr 0lJul-22 To Date 4 414 lOOo/"

FA Jona Wala fcnbcr OlJul-22 To Date 4 4/4 tov/o
FA Joyce Omina fcnbcr 01Jul-22 To Detc 4 414 loo%
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a MEMBERSHIP DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE
MEETINGS ATTENDANCE 2023

FA John Mwangi Kihara Memtler To Date
The Membership Services Committee held 3 meetings in 2023 12022: 4l
R.EGT'LATIONS STANDARDS AND R.ESEARCH COMMITTEE

Member O 1 -Irrl-23

The Re ulations Standards and Research Committee held 2 meetirr s in 2023

FA Peter Onyango Member

FA Geoffrev Odundo Member

FA Patrir:ia Kirvanuka Member 0l - lrr l-23

FA Daniel Nzioki Member 01 Jul-23

FA Humphre) Gathungu Member

I

1 00,2,

100%

100%

100,\,2

2022. 3

100%

1 0090

100%

To Date

UEUBERSIIIP
C'OUUITTEE

NAUE FOATTIOIT W.E.F To UEEflIIO
ATTEITDAITCE

FA Catherine Karita
C hairprrson 0l -.lul-22

O 1 'J ul-22

O1 Jul-22

To Date

To Date

3 I 00,,/.

FA Catherine Theuri

FA Puritl'Kagendo

Member 3 3/3 100%

Member To Date 3 3/3 100%
FA Samuel
Kamunl'u

Njoroge
Member 0l Jul-22 To Date 3 3/3 10o,vo

FA Solomon Ngah u
Member 01 -Jul-22 To Date 2 ,) /,) I O0%

O I -Jul-22 1/l

UEETINGS ATTENDANCE 2023

NAIIE POSTTIOt{ W.E.F To UEETIIYG
ATTE}{DAITCE

FA Anthonv Mrlithiga Chairman 01 Jul-23 To Date 2 111 1000r,
Margaret MuthonitrA

Kibera Member O I Jul-23 To Date 2 tlr
FA David Kanvi Member 01-Jul-23 To Date 2 1/1

Mernber 0'l -Jul-23

Melnber O 1-Jul-23

To Date

To Date

2

2

1009.

100/,,

1

I

FA Anthonv Murimi

FA Elizabeth Irungu

FA Peter Onyango
To Date

II

PROTESIONAL
ATANDARI'A COUUITTEE
NAUE FOArfIOIf w.E.r To UEETITG

ATTENDANCE

01 Jul-23 t/l1

1

To Date

0 I -Ju l-23 To Date

To Datc

To Dale

01 Jul 23 r/l tooot

The Professional Standards Committee trel<l I meeting rn 2023 l2O2'2: l)

100%
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NWESTf, EITT PERTORXAITCE REPIORTI!|O 8I'B.COUUTTTEE

The Investment Performancc Reporting Sub-Committec hcld I mecting in 2023 12022:31

FA Anthony Mwithiga
Chairman 0lJul-23 To Datc 1 rlr 10Oo/o

FA Jackson Nguthu
Membcr 0lJul-23 To Date I Llr lOOo/o

FA Francis Mwangi
Membcr 0lJul-23 To Datc I I I lOOo/o

FA Teresia Mburu
Member 0lJul-23 To Date I 1/L lOOo/o

FA Peter Anderson
Membcr OlJul-23 To Date 1 rlr lOOo/"

FA Ab€dncgo Mureithi
Member 0lJul-23 To Date I I I lOOo/o

FA Anne Wainaina
Membcr OlJul-23 To Date 1 I I r00%

FA Pauline Naliaka Lusweti
Membcr 0lJul-23 To Date I L/1 lOOo/o

FA Margaret Kibera
Membcr 0l -Jul-23 To Date 1 r/r lOOo/o

FA Abcl Kagwe
Mcmber 01Jul-23 To Date I L/r lOOP/o

FA George Bodo
Membcr OlJul-23 To Date 1 I I lOOo/o

FA Emlyn Ngrliri
Member OlJul-23 To Date I UL lOOo/o

FA Elizabeth Irungu
Membcr OlJul-23 To Date 1 Ur LOOo/o

FA Irungu Waggema SUB Member 0lJul-23 To Date I L/L lOOo/o

FA Eric Musau
Member 0l-Jul-23 To Datc I rlr lOOo/o
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o
rE&LOWEIIIP & COUUEITDATIOIII AUB COTTTrI'TTFE

The Fellowship and Commendation Sub-Committee held 3 meeting in 2023 (2O22: Ol

ErIIICS AilD IITTERGRITY TEAT AI'B.COUUITTEE

The Ethics and Integrity Test Sub-Committee held I meeting n 2023 (2022: ll

FA Job Kihumba Chelrora 0l-Jul-22 To Date 3 313 TOOo/"

FFA Lazarus Kimang'a far.bcr OlJul-22 To Date 3 313 TOOo/o

FFA Jonah Aiyabei Mcnbcr O lJul-22 To Date 3 313 lOOo/o

FA Judith Nyalawa Mcmbcr Ol-Jul-22 To Date 3 213 67o/"

FFA Nicholas Lctting fcrnbcr OlJul-22 To Date 3 2/3 67o/o

FA Samuel Kamunyu fcmbcr OlJul-22 To Date 3 2t3 67o/"

FA Catherine Karita [cnbcr OlJul-22 To Date 3 213 67o/"

FA Purity Kagendo Ucmbcr Ol-Jlal-22 To Date 3 2/3 67o/"

FA Einstein Kihanda Ucnbcr 01Jul-22 To Date 3 213 67o/o

FA Charity Muya Ucmbcr 01JuI-22 To Date 3 rl3 33o/"

FA Anthony Mudthiga Mcnbcr OlJul-23 To Date 1 L/L TOOo/o

FA Peter Onyango fcnbcr 01Jul-23 To Date I rlr lOOo/"

FA Catherine Theuri Ucmbcr 0lJul-23 To Date 1 rlr l00o/o
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ICITA COLLEGT COUUI,rTEE

Thc ICIFA College of Directors held 1 meetin8 rn 2023(2022: tl.

FFA Dr. George Wakah Chairman O6-Feb-2O To Date I 1/r lOOo/o
FFA Dr. Duncan Elly
Ochieng'

Membcr O6-Feb-20 To Date 1 r/r LOOYo

FFA Lcah Nyambura Member 06-Feb-2O To Date I rlr lOOo/"

FA Judith Nyakawa Member OlJul-23 To Datc 1 t/r 100%
FA Einstein Kihanda Membcr 0lJul-23 To Datc 1 rlr TOOo/o

FA hof. Muthaa Membcr OlJul-23 To Date I rlr tooyo
FA Edq'in Njamura Member O6-Feb-2O 30Jun-2O23 1 rlr lOOo/o

FA Catherinc Theuri Membcr 06-Feb-20 3OJun-2O23 1 r/L lOOo/o
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Regietration

l. FFA Dr. Jonah Aiyabei- Chrtrana
2. FA John Kirimi
3. Daniel Warutcrc
4. CS Kuria Waithaka
5. Dr. Indeje Wanyama
6. FA Joseph Ndungu
7. FA Nicholas lthondeka

Diaciplinary

1. FFA Job Kihumba-Chelrou
2. FFA Dr. Duncan Elly Ochieng
3. FA Charity Muya
4. Brenda Odiembo
5, FA Dr. Stcphen Itckii
6. FA Abubakar Hassan
7. James Githu
8. CS Judith Odugc-Oticno

Gwernance, Nomination and
Remuneration

I PPf, I azqru6 Kimang'a- Chrlrata
2 FFA Leah Nyambura
3 FFA Dr. Jonah Aiyabci
4 FA Einstcin Kihanda
5 FFA Prof. Nicholas Letting'
6 FA Judith Nyakawa
7 FFA Job Kihumba

Finance and StratcB/

1. FFA Prof, Nicholas ktting - Chrlrn r
2. FA Judith Nyalcawa

3. FA Edwin Njamura
4. FA Nyale Nyanga

5. FA Ieaac Otolo
5, FA Judith Bonareri

Audit, Risk and Compliance

1. FA Patricia Kiwanuka - Chrlrpcrroa
2. FA Jona Wala
3. FA Joyce Omina
4. FA Isaac Ogutu
5. FA Ken Kiboss
6. FA David Kanyi

Memberehip Developmcnt Services

I . FA Catherinc Karita - Chrlqr.r.oa
2.FA Purity Kagendo
3.FA Samuel Njoroge
4.FA Catfrerine fiieuri
S.FA John Mwangi
6.FA Dr. Solomon Ngahu
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l. FA Anthony Mwithiga- Chelrnea
2. FA Geoftq Odundo
3. FA Eri?abcth lrunSu
4. FA Peter Onyango
5. FA Margaret Kibcra
6. FA Anthony Murimi

IX. UAIIAOEf,EIIT DIACUAAIOIT ArD AITAL?SIS

Thc key pcrformance indicatore for the year ended 3lst Decembcr 2023 are as tabulated bclow

tions, Stendards and RcscarchRegula
Q6rnrniff4g McEbcrB

Icifa College Board 1. FFA Dr. Georgc Wakah- Chrtnra
2. FFA Lcah Nyambura
3. FFA Dr. Duncan Elly Ochicng,
4. FA Einstcin Kihanda
5. FA Judith Nyakawa
6. FA Prof. Georac Mutfiaa

Income (Kshe)
Surplus/ (Dcficit)
Taxation (Kshs)
Surplus/ (Deficit) after tax (Kshe)

.s9,311,7E1
8,4?,471

137,38s
8,884,866

34,.187,918
(4,425,6&rl

(4,425,6831

l13l %L7 Vo
Ifct rurplur/ldc8cltl eftcr trr 8.884.866 4.425.58I11

fcnbcrr et cnd ol ycer 1307 1053
kacticing
Non-hacticing
Associate

249
727
29L

28it
#2
248
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]L EITVIRNOUENTAL AND SUSTAIITABILITY RTPORfl G
ICIFA will continue to focus on member development seryices, building institutional capacity and

building market standards and practices in order to promote and monitor compliance with standards

of professional competence and ethical practice and enhancing professionalism in the investment and

Iinancial sector. The ongoing investment in Investment Reporting Standards, quality assurance

programmes, ICT infrastructure and services wi-ll add impetus to enhancement of the desired level of
member satisfaction.

Eu.tahablllty ltratGgy and proflle -

The Institute launched its second strategic plan for the year 2021-2025 on 25 June 2021. The Strategic

Plan focuses on three pillars:

1 Member development services;

2 Building institutional and capacity;

3 Building market standards and practices.

A summary of the strategic objectives that are derived from the pillars are:

(i) To promote trainings in investment and frnance;

(ii) To promote investment research;

(iii) To provide added value to members;

(iv) To ensure financial sustainability of the Institute;
(v) To promote professional ethics; and

(vi) To be a voice of the industry.

The strateBic plan is well aligned with the Institute's mission to promote excellence and
professionalism amongst our members and the hnancial markets. The delivery of the objectives will
be mainstreamed through robust performance management; member needs driven decisions and

enhanced member service in a purposefully collaborative environment.

4 Eavlroaaoutdpcrforrouce
The Institute has put clear policy to manage biodiversity.

5 Employcc wclfaro

The institute has clear transparency and fair recruiting process by taking account on gender

ratio, stakeholder engagements and providing careers training, appraisal and reward systems.

The organisation has a-lso put in place clear policy on safet5r and compliance with Occupational

Safety and Health Act of 2007, (OSHA)

6 Mafkct placo practlccr-
The organisation should outline its efforts to:

al Rcrpoudblc coapetltlonpractlcc.
Explain how the organisation ensures responsible competition practices with issues like
anti-corruption, responsible political involvement, fair competition and respect for

competitors

bl Rcrponrlblc Supply chala and suppller rolatloa3

\\\\'tl
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The Institute has been maintain ing best business practices with suppliers by honouring ,

supplier contracts and settling payment u,ithin stipulated time.
cf Rcrpoadblc EuLGUtrg and advcrdtcncnt

The Institute has maintaining ethics b€st practise regarding advertising services being
offered through social media platform.

dl Product rtcrerdrhlp
outline efforts to safeguard consumer rights and interests.

Corporatc Sochl RcrponrfbilIty / Cot[|luttty Eag.rgcEGntr
The institute has hosted Investment contest and rewarding the best candidates as well as awarding
Kasneb Certified Investment Financial Anatyst best student. The Institute has sponsored Kasneb
Foundation and Finance Investment Student Association of Nairobi events.

]9. RIPORT OF TIIE COI'NCIL
The Council submit their report together with the unaudited financial statements for the year ended
December 31,2023 which show the state of the I/rsfiture,s aJfairs.

tl Haclpd actlyltlc.
The principal activity of the Institute is to register and licence certified investment and financial
analysts and regulate the investment the Investment and financial anatysis profession in Kenya and
for connected purposes.

ttl Rerultr
The results of the Institute for the year ended December 3L, 2023 are set out on page l -5

Audltorr
The Auditor General is responsible for the statutory audit of the Institute in accordance with Article
229 of the Constitution of Kenya and the Public Audit Act 20lS.Auditor General audited the Institute
for the year ended December 31, 2023, in accordance to section 23 ofthe Public Audit Act, 20 15 which
empowers the Auditor General to appoint an auditor to audit on his behatf.

By Order of the Council

FA Dlaar fuduld-Matla
Sccrctlfy

\\\\,ilr
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:gI. STATEUEITTOtrCOUITCIL'RESPONEIBILITITA

Section 81 of the [\rblic Finance Management Act, 2Ol2 and (section 14 of the State Corporations Act,)

require the council to prepare linancial statements in resp€ct of that Instltute, which give a true and

fair view of the state of affairs of the Institute at the end of the financial year/period and the operating

results of the Institute for that year/period. The council are also required to ensure that the Institute

keeps proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy the financial position of the

Inatihie. The council are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the /nstlfute.

The Council are responsible for the preparation and presentation ofthe lnsfitute's financial statements,

which give a true and fair view of the state of aJlairs of the /nstitute for and as at the end of the financial
year (pcriod) ended on December 3L, 2023. This responsibility includes:

(i) Maintaining adequate financial management arrangements and ensuring that these

continue to be effective throughout the reporting period;

(ii) maintaining proper accounting records, which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any

time the financial position of the Institute;
(iii) Designing, implementing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation

and fair presentation of the fmancial statements, and ensuring that they are free from material

misstatements, whether due to eror or fraud;

(iv) Safeguarding the assets of the /nstitute;

(v) Selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and
("i) Making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

The committee responsibility for the Itrsfrture's financial statements, which have been prepared using

appropriate accounting policies supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates, in
conformity with Intemational Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), and in the manner required by the

PFM Act, 2OL2 ar:.d (the State Corporations Act) - frstitures slauld qtote applicable legislation as

indicated under uhich th.eA are regulated).
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For the ear ended December 3l 2023
T?re Council are of the opinion that the Institute's finanriel statcments give a true and fair view of
statc of Insfitute's transactions during the financial year cnded Deccmber 3 l, 2023, and of thc .lhstitu
financial position ae at that date. Thc Council further confrm the completcncsg of tl.c accounting
rccords maintained for tlte Inslirute, which havc becn relied upon in the prcparation of the lhstrlute,s
financial atatements as well as the adequacy of ttre systems of intemal financial control.
Notiing has come to the attcntion of tlle Council to indicate that the Instrtute will not remain a going
concern for at least t}le next twclve months from the date of t]:is statemcnt.

Approrl sf 1f,6 frrrrrcl{ rtrt.EGtrt

The rnstrtuteb financial atetementa were approvcd by the council on 25 Junc 2024 and, signcd on
its behalf by:

Slglrturc SlgnrtusG
fA Dblr turtuH-Xellr
CF,O t Srcr.trry

ffA Prof. Illcholer L.tthg,
Chelrrr! Flan.lcc t Stntog/
Coranlttcc

ffA L€th Ifpabun
Chrlrlnroa of thc Couacll

xt.
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O'FICE OF THE AUOITON-GE ERAL

E n h or ing dt oun t uh r I t tt

REPORT OF THE AUDITOR€ENERAL ON TNSTITUTE OF CERTIFIED INVESTMENT
AND FINANCIAL ANALYSTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER, 2023

PREAMBLE

I draw your attention to the contents of my report which is in three parts:

A. Report on the Financial Statements that considers whether the financial
statements are fairly presented in accordance with the applicable financial
reporting framework, accounting standards and the relevant laws and regulations
that have a direct effect on the financial statements;

B. Report on Lawfulness and Effectiveness in Use of Public Resources which
considers compliance with applicable laws, regulations, policies, gazette notices,
circulars, guidelines and manuals and whether public resources are applied in a
prudent, effcient, economic, transparent and accountable manner lo ensure the
Govemment achieves value for money and that such funds are applied for
intended purpose; and,

C. Report on the Effectiveness of lnternal Controls, Risk Management and
Governance which considers how the entity has instituted checks and balances to
guide internal operations. This responds to the effectiveness of the governance
structure, risk management environment and intemal controls, developed and
implemented by those charged with governance for orderly, efficient and effective
operations of the entity.

The three parts of the report are aimed at addressing the statutory roles and
responsibilities of the Auditor-General as provided by Article 229 of the Constitution, the
Public Finance Management Acl,2012 and the Public Audit Act, 2015. The three parts of
the report when read together constitute the report of the Auditor-General.

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Opinion

I have audited the accompanying financial statements of lnstitute of Certified lnvestmenl
and FinancialAnalysts set oul on pages 1 to 46, which comprise the statement of financial
position as at 31 December, 2023 and the slatement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity, statement of cash flows and
statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts for the year then ended and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information in
accordance with the provisions of Article 229 of the Constitution of Kenya and Section 35,

Report of the Audit
I I December, 2023

ot4en*ol on lnstitule of Certilied l^'estment and Financial Analysts for the year ended



cf the Public Audit Act, 2015. I have obtained all the information and explanations which
to the best of my knowledge and belief, were necessary for the purpose of the audit.

ln my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the lnstitute of Certified lnvestment and Financial Analysts as at
31 December, 2023 and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then
ended, in accordance with lnternational Financial Reporting Standards and comply with
the Public Finance Management Ad, 2012 and the lnvestment and Financial Analysts
Act, 2015.

Basis for Opinion

The audit was conducted in accordance with the lnternational Standards for Supreme
Audit lnstitutions (lSSAls). I am independent of the lnstitute of Certified lnvestment and
Financial Analysts Management in accordance with ISSAI 130 on the Code of Ethics. I

have fulfilled other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the ISSAI and in accordance
with other ethical requirements applicable to performing audits of financial statements in
Kenya. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for my opinion.

Key Audit MatGrs

Key audit matters are those matters that, in my professional judgement, are of most
significance in the audit of the financial statements. There were no key audit matters to
report in the year under review.

REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC
RESOURCES

Conclusion

As required by Article 229(6) of the Constitution, based on the audit procedures
performed, I confirm that nothing has come to my attention to cause me to believe that
public resources have not been applied lawfully and in an effective way.

Basis for Conclusion

The audit was conducted in accordance with the ISSAI 4000. The Standard requires that
I comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain assurance
about whether the activities, financial transactions and information reflected in the
financial statements comply in all material respects, with the authorities that govern them.
I believe that the audil evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for my conclusion.

Repoa of the Auditor-Ceneral on lnslitute o/ Certilied lrwestmenl and Financial Analys* for the year ended
3l December, 2023
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REPORT ON THE EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK
MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE

Conclusion

As required by Section 7(1)(a) of the Public Audit Act, 2015, based on the audit
procedures performed, I confirm that nothing has come to my attention to cause me to
believe that internal controls, risk management and governance were not effective.

Basis for Gonclusion

The audit was conducted in accordance with ISSAI 2315 and ISSAI 2330. The standards
require that I plan and perform the audit to obtain assurance about whether effective
processes and systems of internal controls, risk management and overall governance
were operating effectively in all material respects. I believe that the audit evidence I have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my conclusion.

Responsibilities of the Management and the Board of Directors

The Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these
financial statements in accordance with lnternational Financial Reporting Standards and
for maintaining effective internal controls as the Management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal
controls, risk management and governance.

ln preparing the financial statements, the Management is responsible for assessing the
lnstitute's ability to continue to sustain its services, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to sustainability of services and using the appropriate basis of accounting unless
Management is aware of the intention to cease operations.

The Management is also responsible for the submission of the financial statements to the
Auditor-General in accordance with the provisions of Section 47 of the Public Audit Act,
2015.

ln addition to the responsibility for the preparation and presentation of the financial
statements described above, Management is also responsible for ensuring that the
activities, financial transactions and information reflected in the financial statements
comply with the authorities which govern them and that public resources are applied in
an effective way.

The Council is responsible for overseeing the lnstitute's financial reporting process,
reviewing the effectiveness of how Management monitors compliance with relevant
legislative and regulatory requirements, ensuring that effective processes and systems
are in place to address key roles and responsibilities in relation to overall governance and
risk management, and ensuring the adequacy and effectiveness of the control
environment.

Report of the Auditor-General on lnstilute of Certified Invest,nena and Financial Analysts for the year ended

3l December, 2023
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Audito:-General's Responsibilities for the Audit

The audit objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements as a whole are free from materlal misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor's report that includes my opinion in accordance with the provisions
of Section 48 of the Public Audit Act, 2015 and submit the audit report in compliance with
Arlicle 229(7) of the Constitution. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with lSSAls will always detect
a material misstatement and weakness when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these financial statements.

ln addition to the audit of the financial statements, a compliance audit is planned and
performed to express a conclusion about whether, in all material respects, the activities,
financial transactions and information reflected in the financial statements are in
compliance with the authorities that govern them in accordance with the provisions of
Article 229(6) of the Constitution and submit the audit report in compliance with Article
229(7) ot lhe Constitution.

Further, in planning and performing the audit of the financial statements and audit of
compliance, I consider internal control in order to give an assurance on the effectiveness
of internal controls, risk management and overall governance processes and systems in
accordance with the provisions of Section 7(1)(a) of the Public Audit Act, 2015 and submit
the audit report in compliance with Article 229(7) of lhe Constitution. My consideration of
the internal control would not necessarily disclose all matters in internal control that might
be material weaknesses under the lSSAls. A material weakness is a condition in which
the design or operation of one or more of the internal control components, does not
reduce to a relatively low level the risk that misstatements caused by error or fraud in
amounts that would be material in relation to the financial statements being audited may
occur and not be detected within a timely period by employees in the normal course of
performing their assigned functions.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control may not prevent or detect
misstatements and instances of non-compliance. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the
policies and procedures may deteriorate.

As part of an audit conducted in accordance with lSSAls, I exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. I also:

. ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from

Report of the Auditor-General on Institute of Certifrecl lnvestnent and FinancAl Analysts for the year ended

3l December, 2023
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a

fraud is hiqher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intrrntional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal cr'tltrol.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by Management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of Management's use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the lnstitute's
ability to continue as a going concern. lf I conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
I am required to draw attention in the auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of my audit
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the lnstitute to cease to
continue to sustain its services.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures and whether the financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information and
business activities of the lnstitute to express an opinion on the financial statements.

. Perform such other procedures as I consider necessary in the circumstances.

lcommunicate with Management regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that are identified during the audit.

I also provide Management with a statement that I have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence and communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on my independence and where
applicable, related safeguards.

FCP u, CBS
AUDITOR.GENERAL

Nairobi

25 June,2024

Reporto/thel@tfiedInvestmentandFinancialAnalystsforlheyearended
3l Decenber, 2023
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Institute of Certified Investment and Financial Analysts
Annual Reports and Financial Statements
For the vear ended December 3l ,2023
XIV. STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPR.EHENSIVE II{COME FOR THE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

zUrA 2Ut2
![ot. R.rt t d

Revenrre Kshs Kshs
Grant from the Government 6 24,5s0,000 20,000,000

24,550,OOO 20,ooo,ooo
Revenue from E::change TrareactloDs
Rendering of services 7 24 ,512,900 13,993,705
Investment Income-External Investments 8 248.851 494,2t3
Other income

Recovered doubtful debts w/o
24,76L,75L L4,487,9L8

Total Revenue 49,311,7s1 34,487,918
Expenees

Employee costs t2 14 ,495,O92 14,410,031
Council expense 13 t2,239 ,293 9,894,47 I
CFO forum Validation 14 0 656,830
Administration Cost 10 8,773,135 8,r 16,801 Restated
Office Rent 15 2,677 ,357 3,028,804
Provision for bad debt 16 1,964,383 t,520,t77
Depreciation and Amortization expense t7 7 t5,O20 7,286347

Total Operatlag Expensee 40,464,28O 38,913,5O1 Rrrt tGd
Other galns/(los8e8)

Surplue before Tax 8,447,471 (4,425,5831 R..tatGd

Corporate Income Tax (claim) 137,385
Surplus for the perlod 8,584,856 (4,425,5831 Rortrted
Proht Margin Ratio 17 0/" ll3lo/o



Institute of Certilied Investment and Financial Analvsts
Annual Reports and Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31 .2023

]N'. {TTATEIf,E!'T OT TITYAITCIAT POATIION AA AT 31 DECEIIBER 2()23

The financial statements were approved by the Council on _25 June 2O24 and signed on its
behalf by:

Chairperson of the Institute C.E.O Finance and Administration Manager

Ihno: FPA Lcah ltyrmbun FA Dtaaa Uudull-Ualna FA CPA Cotllat Mladotl
ICPAK IUNO;22115

s.

Signature...
,)&
\.i\....'

ArrGt3 K.h. -ffi

lloa-CufrGnt Alrata
Property, Plant and Equipment

18
1,679,585 , IISFtr

Intangible Assets
l9

199,280 '{mffi

Totrl Notr - Currcat Artctr 1,878,865 a{'lr*'tztr

Currcnt Araotr
Bank and Cash balances 2l 6,593,396 E r6iw
Receivables 20(al 16,0t7,733 4rtogs,
Prepayment 20(b) 247 ,500
corporate income tax receivable 20(d) 240,t83 rrs{EE
Totd Culrclt AtrGt 23,O98,812 ..,,t; Itlffi!fi
Total Asotr 24,977,677

F&I'ITY IIND LIABILITIEA
Accumulated Fund 18,025,191 .,- :S{,#,8*,
Capltal aad Rcectrc 18,O25,191 rHtqffi
I[otr-Currcrt Llabllltlcr
Total ltlon-curc nt lhbllltlcr
Cursclrt Llabtlltlce
Trade & Other Payables 22 6,952,446 .tIEryIXFF
Totd Currcnt Lleblllttcr qlttm6,9s2,446
Total Llablllttcr 6,962,446 ra!p.
Total F,qutty and llabllltlcr r*Flrm?i24,977,677



Institute of Certified Investment X'inenciel Ar

For the yeer ended Decembcr 31. 2023
xvl. arATEf,Em or crrArcEa rr EQIrrrr FoR TEE y-EAR ErDED 3l DECEUBER 2023

Xtht Xrbr IIrht X.h. X.ht f.h. Krh.
Ar rt Jaauar5r 1,
2(}22 o o o

13,855,918 o 0 13,865,918
Deficit For the period
ended 3ld December
2022

o o 0 14,248,5831 0 o 14,2118,5831

Corporate Income
Tax Adjustment
(20221
A{furtcd dcllclt
Rr.t tcd l111,qxrl o o lt77.oool
At Dcccnber 31,
2(}22 0 o

9,rt40,335
o 0 9,r43,""t

A. rt fiauary 1,
2(n3 o o 9,116,""t o 0

9,44{r,335
Surplus For the
period ended 31st
December 2023

0 o 0 8,584,856 o 0 8,584,856

Acconuhtcd
rctctrc rt rt
Dcccnbcr 31, 2023

0 o

18,Oi15,191 o o 18,(115,191

3



Institute of Certified Investment Finencial Analyst
Annual Reports end Financisl Strtenents
For the yerr ended December 3l,2023

XIIU. STATE,UEIT? OF CASII rI,()WA FOR TIIE Y:EAR EIYDED 31 DECEUBER 2(123

GAAE FII'WA FROI OPERATIrC
ACTIVITIEA

Prolit or loss before tsx 8,s84,856 (4,425,s83) Restated
Depreciation & Amortization

77 715,O20 1,286,388
Opcntlag proftt/ (lo..l bcfotc rorHag
cepltd ehea3cr 9,299,A76 (3,139,1951

RGatrtc.l

(Increasc)/decrease in trade and othcr
reccivablee & coryroration tax

20 (10,720,495) (3,807,4271
Incrcase/ (decreaee) in trade and other
payables

22 2,417,A06 t,769,406

Rcstated

Working capital cash flow (8,302,689) (2,038,021) ReBtatcd
Itct Cerh f,or ohragcr froa Opcntl.ag
ActHtIcr

997,tA7 16,t77,2t61
Cash flows from invcsting activities
Purchasc of Property, plant, equipmcnt and
intangible assctg

l8
(219, r38) 17 r8,o2ol

Proceeds from salc of property, plant and
F,quipment
ll, t c!.h trorr urcd la lavcrttag rotlvltlcr

(2r9,1381 (Tla,oilol
Proceeds from borrowings
Repayment of borrowings
Ifct ouh florr urcd h llarlolag ectlvltlcr
IIct lacrcuc/(Dccrcercl la ouh ead cuh
cquftrrlGtrt

77A,Ut 15,895,2351
Cerh tad ceth cqulvrlcatr rt bcglaalag of
thc ycer

5.816.3.[E 11,710,183
clth .!d oarh cqulvdcatr et cld of thc
Yaat

5,593.396 5,815,32T8
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cial Strtements
For the verr ended Dccembcr 3l,2023

XI/IU. gfATEUtIIT OF OOUPIIRISOr Or BITDGEf, AIID AgfUAL lllOIrIfTS trrOR TIIE IEAR ErDED 31 ITECEUBER 2C!3

RaYaDrrC
Ciovernment Grants and
Subsidies 30,000,000 24,550,000 (s,45o,000) (18)% (a) Thc institute received grant of Kes

24,550,000 from the National Treasurv
Rcndering of Services

21,455,565 24,512,900 3,057,335 l4o/o
(b) Growth of rendering scrvice was mainly
attributed by the increase in member
registrations and member development
activities

lnvestment Income
s 19,9 12 244,852 (27t,060l (521o/o

(c) The reduction of investment income was
attributed to lower fixed deposit placement
due to low cash flows

Totd laconc
6L.976.477 49,311,751 2.663,726 5o/"

Ertrlrcr

Employee costs t9,702,896 74,495,O92 5,207 ,804 360/"
(d) The decreasc of cmployce cost
attributed bv deferred rccruihent

Council expcnse r2,380,800 12,239,293 141,507 lo/o
(e) lhe council sitting allowances is within
thc budget

Administrative expensre t4,941,941 8,773,135 6,168,806 7Oo/o

(f) The Administration expcnsc is witlin the
budget

Rent
3,105,735 2,677,357 42837a l60/o

(g) The rent exp€nse is n'ithin the budcet

Bad debt expense
1,964,383 (r,964,383)

Depreciation & Amortization r.286,388 715,020 571,368 8o/o
[h) The depreciation exp€nsc is within the
budgct

Totd crpcndlturc
51.417.760 rrc,864,280 1O.653..S8O ( i)The total exDcnditure is within the budcet

Surplur bcfori o.'
s67,7t7 4.447.471
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Inrtitute of Certified Investment end Financial Anelysts
Annuel Rcportr rnd Finrnciel Strtements
For the veer ended December 31 ,2023

Corporrtc Ter Chln of thc 0) The organization filed credit corporate
income tax in the 2023137 385

Auflur of thc porlod rftcr
tr.a

657,7t6 8,584,856

Crpltel kpcadfturo
575,448 575,448

Websitc Portal Design &
Maintcnance

(42s,4481
(42s,4481

The organization developed mcmbers
portal during the year 2023website

Deslrtop and Irptop (150,0OO) (lso,ooo) Ihe organization acquired two desLtop
Surplur for thc Pcrlod t6 v" 8,584,856 (r%

6



Institute of Certilied Investment end Firencial Anelysts

or the year ended December 31 ,2023

Note: PFU Act sectton 87(2) lt and la l.qulrc.s a Natlonq.l Goecrament Insf,'lAfio ta pl.caent altptoprlailon dccounts shoutlng t te
stdrts of cach ootc conparcd urlth t E approprlatton tot the uotc d,,d, d, at4,temc,'t cxplalnlng a,,,:y uatlatlotts batucc a,ct'r';a.l

cryendtAre and the sutns uoted. Iff,S does ,@t requlre Incttttttr cornplytng urlth IIRS Eto;rtdards to pru.pa:"e hdgetary
lniforrnatlon because moat ol t tc l^sttttttcs that applg IIRS .tre prtuatc I^f'tltt tcs thqt do not m.tke thel" bvdgds publlcly
a uallable.

HouetEr, for 1rubltc sector Inatltutes, the PSIASA hos consldcrcd t E rqulrefl,3nts ol the Pf Act, 2072 whlch thcsc
st(r'ternf;,,nts comply wltlli. t E lml,o tance that tlv budgetarg l4forlm.atlon uould proolde to t E uscrs of thc gt,,tumGnta dnd
the tdd that the 1ru.bltc Instltrttcs make thelr htdgets ptrtUclg a uallable cnd dcclded to lnctude thla ,tdta nclnt undcr thc
IIRS comlellcnt frno,nclo,l st(,'tcmc ts,
Budget, notcs: hoddc etqtlanetlon of d{ferencea betuecn .tftr,u.rl a'nd budgetcd amounts (7O% oaer/ undefl Ptoolde an
qtlarroltlon of changcs between orlglnal and final htdget lndlcatlng whctler the dllferencc ls due to teallocstlons or
othcr cd:uacs. Where the totql of o.ct,tal on corrynrable b.r,'ts doc. 

^ot 
tle to t E st6t'J,ne t otfinanctal pcrfonndncc totdla

due to dllfetences ln cccountlag baEtstbudget ls cash Dcsls, st4,te'mc''l olfinanclal pcrfortndtcc la d.c'.ara,Q ptotid. a
rcconcllldtlon-

7



Institute of Certified Investment Financial Analyst
Annual Reports and Finencial Statements
For the veer ended December 3l ,2023

XDL NOTEA TO THE FIITANCIAL ATATEUENTS
1. Gcacnl laforrantlon

The Institute of Certified Investment Financial Analyst ICIFA) is the professional Investment and
Financial Analysts'body mandated by law to regulate the Investment and Financial Analysis
profession in Kenya, being the only body authorized by law to register and grant practicing
certilicates to Certified Investment and Financial Analysts (CIFAs) in Kenya both in private and
public practice under the Investment and Financial Analysts Act (No.13 of 2015).

We are dedicated to providing region-wide network and promoting the role of the profession in the
fields of investment and financial analysis, pension funds, asset management, corporate finance,
investment and finance training, fund management, financial advisory, wealth management, real
estate investment, insurance investment advisory, capital markets operations, and investment
banking among others. ICIFA provides highly skilled, competent, competitive professional
expertise in all sectors in the investment and finance industry.
We are globally alfruated with Association of Certified International Investment Analyst (ACIIA)

based in Switzerland, Chartered Institute for Securities & Investment (CISI), the African Securities
Exchange Association (ASEA) and the Association of hofessional Societies in East Africa (APSEA).

The examination body for Certified Investment and Financial Analysts Examination is Kasneb
2. Stetcncat of Corrplleacc a,ad Barlr of pr.ptratlon

The frnancial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for the
measurement at re-valued amounts of certain items of property, plant and equipment, marketable
securities and financial instruments at fair value, impaired assets at their estimated recoverable
amounts and actuarially determined liabilities at their present value. The preparation of frnancial
statements in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) allows the use

of estimates and assumptions. It also requires management to exercise judgement in the process

of applying the Institute's accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree ofjudgement
or complexity, or where assumptions and estimates are signilicant to the financial statements,
are disclosed in notes

The financial statements have been prepared and presented in Kenya Shillings, which is the
functiona-l and reporting currency of the Irlstitute.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the pFM Act, the state
Corporations Act (include ang other applicable legblation), alld Intemational Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS). The accounting policies adopted have been consistently app[ed to all the years
presented.

8



Inrtitute of Certilied Investment Fimn

For the veer ended December 31. 2023

II(}TES TO TEE trIIIAJICIAL STATEXEI|Ta lCoatlaucdf
3. Appltcatloa of l[.w end Rowlrcd Intcrantloaat Flarachl Rcportlng Strnd.rdr (IfRSl

l. ilbu g.Jtd amcndcd si,r ddrds and. lnterprctatlons ln lseue c$ect,In ln the yaar ardd 31 lreanbt 2O23.

IAS 39 -Financial

Instruments:

Recognition and

Measurement

IAS 39 "Financial Instruments: Recogrrition and Measurement'

outlines the requirements for tlle recognition and measurement of
financial assets, financial liabilities, and some contracts to buy or sell

non-financial items. Financial instruments are initially recognized

when an Institute becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the

instrument and are classified into various categories depending upon

the type of instrument, which tJren determines thc subsequent

measurcment of the instrument (typically amortized cost or fair value).

Special rules apply to embcdded derivatives and hedging instruments.

The amendments are effectivc for annual

periods beginning on or after January 1,

2020. Earlier application is permitted.

IFRS 4- Insurance

Contracts (Superseded)

IFRS 4 "Insurance Contracts" applies, with limited exceptions, to all

insurance contracts (including reinsurance contracts) that an Institute

issues and to reinsurance contracts t]:at it holds. In light of the IASB's

comprehensive project on insurance contracts, the standard provides

a temporary exemption from the requirements of some other IFRSs,

including the requircment to consider IAS 8 "Accounting Policies,

Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors' when selecting

accounting policies for insurance contracta.

The amendments are effective for annual

periods beginning on or after January 1,

2020. Earlier application is permitted.

IFRS 7- Financial

Instrument Disclosures

IFRS 7 'Financial Instruments: Disclosures" requires disclosure of
information about the sigrr.ificance of financisl instruments to an I
nstitute, and the nature and extent ofrisks arising from those linancial

instrumenta, both in qualitative and quantitative terrns. Specific

disclosures are required in relation to transferred financial ass€ts and

a number of other matters.

The amendments are effective for annual
pcriods beginning on or after January 1,

202O. Earlier application is permitted.

9



Institute of Certified Investment end Finenciel Anelysts
Annuel Reports and Finencial Statements
For the yerr ended December 31,2023

IFRS 16- Lcaseg 16 spccifies how to rccognize, measure, present and disclosc

lcases. The standard provides a single lessee accounting model,

requiring tfie recognition of asscts and liabilities for all leases, unless
the lease tcrm is 12 months or less or thc underlying assct has a low
value. l.cssor accounting however remains largely unchanged from IAS

17 and t}re distinction bctween opcrating and finance lcascs is retained.

IFRS The amendments are cffcctive for annual
pcriods beginning on or a-fter Januar5r l,
202O. Earlier application is pcrmitted.

7h. Cotioaerl lvoc a,accrd tht appltcablc st.rrtd,,rdt and (rma'adfi.c,lts. fu,,cd, o^ th2b at,€tarncnt of tngad o! appllcatlo'.
of tlu abuc, tluy do trot cxpccr tha,t crt 

". wlll bc a dgnlflcaa;t lmgac4. on tllc conpanyls financtarl statcme^tt. Or thc lollotolng
,ut b.n dt .&r.d to h slgrtlllcatr;t lor th. cr.m;lo.lry and has bcaa alddrccsed as lollows....

l0



Inrtitute of Certilied Invcstment rnd

For the yeer cnded Deccmbcr 31 ,2023

X(}TES TO THE FIIIATCIAL gTATEUEIna (Coatlaucdl

Appllcrtloa of f,cw tnd Rcvlrcd latcraatload Fllreactel Reportlag Steaderdr IIFRSIIt. Ilcw qnd amendcd stqnddrd, a,nd, l^t qrr?ta.tlong ln l.csuc brtt ,tot gtct clfc&ba l^ t E War Gndad 3, Ibccttrbct 2O23.

IASI-Presentationof
Financial Statements

IAS I 'Presentation of Financial Statements' sets out tl:e overall

requirements for financial statemcnts, including how they should be

structured, the minimum requirements for their content and

overriding concepts such as going concern, the accrual basis of

accounting and the current/non-current distinction. The standard

requires a complete set of financial statementg to comprise a
statement of financial position, a statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income, a statcment of changes in equity and a
statement of cash flows.

The amendments are effcctive for

annual pcriods beginning on or

after January l, 2023. Earlier

application is permitted.

IAS 12 - Income Taxes LAS 12, "Income Taxes" implements a so-called 'comprehensive

balance she€t method' of accounting for income taxes which

recognizes both the current tar conscquences of transactions and

events and the future tax consequences of the future recovery or
settlement of the carrying amount of an Institute's assets and

liabilities. Diflerences between the carrying amount and tax base of

assets and liabilities, and carried forward tax losses and cr€dits, are

recognized, with lirnited exceptions, as deferred tax liabilities or

deferred tax assets, with the latter also being suUect to a'probable
profrts'test.

Earlier application is permitted.

The amendments are effective for

annual reporting periods

bcginning on or after JanuarSr 1,

2023. Early adoption is

permitted.

LAS 16 - Property, Plant and

Equipment

IAS 16 'Property, Plant and Equipment' outlincg the accounting

treahent for most types of property, plant and equipment. Propcrty,

plant and equipment is initially measured at its cost, subsequently

measured either using a cost or revaluation model, and depreciated so

The amendments are efiective for

annual periods bcginning on or

after January l, 2022. Eaiy
application is permitted.

ll



Institute of Certified Invectment rnd Finencial Anelysts
Annuel Reports rnd Finrncid Strtemcntr
For the ycrr ended December 3l ,2023,

that its dcprcciable arDount i8 allocated on a systematic basis over its
uscful lifc.

LAS 37 - Provisions, Contingent

Liabilities and Contingcnt

Assets

LAS 37 'Provisions, Contingent Liabilitics and Contingent Asscts"

outlines tJre accounting for provisione (liabilities of unccrtain 'rning or

amount), togcther with contingcnt asscta (possible assctsl and

contingent liabilities (poesible obtig"tions and present obliga.tions that
are not probeble or not reliably measurablc).

Ttre amendmeots are effcctive for

annual periods bcginning on or
aftcr Januaqr l, 2022. E€rly
application is permitted.

IAS 4l - Agriculture IAS 4l 'Agriculture' s€ts out the accounting for agricultural activity -
thc transformation of biological asects (Iiving plants and animalsl into
agricultural produce (harvested product of the lnstitute's biological

asscts). The standard gencrally requircs biological assets to bc

measured at fair valuc less costs to Bcll.

The anendments ar€ effective for
annual pcriods beginning on or
after Januar5r l, 2022. Early
application is permitted.

IFRS I - First-time Adoption of
International Financial

Reporting Standards

IFRS I 'First- ''ne Adoption of International Financial Reporting

Standards" scts out the procedurea that an Institutc must follow when

it adopts IFRS for the first timc as t}te baeis for preparing its general

purposc financial statcments. The IFRS grants limitcd exemptions

from the general rcquirement to comply with each IFRS effective at the

end of its first IFRS rcporting period.

The amcndments arc effectivc for

annual periods beginning on or
after Januar5r l, 2022. Es:.ly

application is pcrmitted.

BusinesaIFRS 3

Combinations

IFRS 3 'Busincss Combinations' outlines thc accounting whcn an

acquirer obtains control of a businegs (e.g. an acquisition or merger).

Such busincss combinations arc accountcd for using tJ:c 'acquisition

mcthod', which generally rcquires asscts acquircd and liabilities

agsumed to be measurcd at their fair valucs at the acquisition date.

The amendmcnts are efrcctive for

annual periods bcginning on or
aftcr January l, 2022. Fxrrly

application is permitted if an

Institute also applies all othcr

updated refcrcnces (published

together with tfrc updatrd

')



Inrtitute of Certilied Invcctment and Finenciel

For the year ended December 31, 2023

Conceptual Ftamework) at the

same time or earlier.

IFRS 17 - Insurance Contracts IFRS 17 establishes the principles for the recognition, measurement,

pres€ntation and disclosure of insurance contracts within the scope of

the standard. The objcctive of IFRS l7 is to ensure that an lnstitute
provides relevant information that faithfully reprcscnts thosc

cutracts. This information gives a basis for us€rs of financial

statements to assess the efrect that insurance contxactg have on the

Institute's financial position, financial performance and cash flows.

The IASB tentatively decided to

defcr the effective date of IFRS

17, Insurance Contracts to

annual pcriods beginning on or

a.fter January 1,2022. [The IASB

has also published 'Extcnsion of

the Temporary Dremption from

Applying IFRS 9 (Anendments to

IFRS 4)' to defer the fixed expiry

date of the amendment also to

annual periods beginning on or

after January 1,2023.1

77zz Counc'll do ,tot plan to apply aag of thc abuc tttttll thog bccornc ctfcdtoc. Datcd oa thclr asrestmca't ol tlra potentlal
tnrptct of appllcatlon oJ tlu abow, t tcl do aot qcct thd thcn utlll bc a dgrl;lfrcau$ brynct on the conqralag's flnanclal
Eta'crrG tts.

lll. Early adolttton of ,taidard.
The Institute did not early - adopt any new or amended standard s in year 2022 / 2023

li



Institute of Certified Inv$tment Financiel Analyst
Annual Reports and Financial Statements
For the year ended December 3l ,2023

4. gunrr,ary of Slgalfteaat Accouttlag pollclcr

The principle accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set
out below:

al Rcvcnuc rGcognltlor
Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Institute expects to b€ entitled
in a contract with a customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. Thc
Institute recognizes revenue when it renders service to members.
lf Rcvcnuc from rcrvlccr is recognized in the year in which the lnstitute render services

to the members.

Xl G"t[tr frot r ltatloDal GovGrlEGDt are recognized in the year in which the Instrtute
actually receives such grants. Recurrent grants are recognized in the statement of
comprehensive income. Development/capital grants are recognizcd in the statement of
hnancial position and realised in the statement of comprehensive income over the useful
life of the assets that has been acquired using such funds.

fffl trl[itrca lncona comprises interest receivable from bank deposits and investment in
securities, and is recognized in profrt or loss on a time proportion basis using the
effective interest rate method.

tvl DtvldGtrd laconc is recogniz€d in the income statement in the year in which the right
to receive the payment is established.

vf Rcntal lncornc is recognized in the income statement as it accrues using the effective
interest implicit in lease agreements.

vU Othcr lncoac is recognized as it accrucs.

14
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aunoaty of EtgElflcrat Accountlag Pollclcr
bl In-tlndcontrlbutloan

In-kind contributions are donations that are made to the Inst ture in the form of actual goods

and/or services rather than in money or cash terms. These donations may include vehicles,

equipment or personnel services. Where the financial value received for in-kind contributions

can be reliably determined, the Instltute includes such value in the statement of

comprehensive income both as revenue and as an expense in equal and opposite amounts;

otherwise, the contribution is not recorded.

cl Propcrty, phrt aad cqulpEent
All categories of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost less accumulated

depreciation and impairment losses.

Certain categories of property, plant and equipment are subsequently carried at re-valued

amounts, being their fair value at the date of re-valuation less any subsequent accumulated

depreciation and impairment losses. Where re-measurement at re-valued amounts is desired,

all items in an asset category are re-valued through periodic valuations carried out by

independent external valuers.

Increases in the carrying amounts of assets arising from re-valuation are credited to other

comprehensive income. Decreases ttrat offset previous increases in the carrying amount of
the same asset are charged against the revaluation reserve account; all other decreases are

charged to profit or loss in the income statement. Gains and losses on disposal of items of
property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds from the disposal

with the net carrying amount of the items, and are recognized in profit or loss in the income

statement.

l5
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dl Dcprcchtloa and tnpatroclrt of t ropG"tlr, phnt atrd cqulpmcnt
Freehold land and capital work in prog:ess are not depreciated. capital work in protress
relates mainly to the cost of ongoing but incomplete works on buildings and other civil works
and installations-

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is recognized in the income statement on a
straight-line basis to write down the cost of each asset or the re-valued amount to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The annual rates in use are:

a

Freehold Land

Buildings and civil works

Plant and machinery

Motor vehicles, including motor cycles

Computers and related equipment

Oflice equipment, furniturc and fittings

Nil

25 years or the unexpired lease period

12.5 years

4 years

3 years

12.5 years

cf

A full year's depreciation charge is recognized both in the year of asset purchase and in the
year of asset disposal.

Items of prop€rty, plant and equipment are reviewed annually for impairment. where the
car4ring amount ofan asset is assessed as greater than its estimated recoverable amount, an
impairment loss is recog'rized so that the asset is written down immediately to its estimated
recoverable amount.

Iatrnglblc arectr
Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired scparately are carried at cost less

accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. Amortization is recognized

on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives The estimated useful life and
amortization method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, urith the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis. lntangible assets with
indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses.

Arnortlzatlon and lmpakncut of lateaglblc erotr
Amortization is calculated on the straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the
intangible asset. All intangible assets are reviewed annually for impairment. Where the
carrying amount of an intangible asset is asscssed as greater than its estimated recoverable

amount, an impairment loss is recognized so that the asset is written down immediately to its
estimated recoverable amount.

l/)
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Sl ltrv.rtmeltpropcrty
Investment property, which is property held to eam rentals and/or for capital appreciation

(including prop€rty under construction for such purposes), is measured initially at cost,

including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment property is

measured at fair value. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment

property are included in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. An investment

property is derecognized upon disposal or when the investment property is permanently

withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from the disposal. Any gain

or loss arising on recognition of the property (calculated as the difference between the net

disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the
period in which the property is derecognized.

hl Rlght of U.c Atrct
The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease

liability, lease payments made at or before the commencement day, less any lease incentives

received and any initial direct costs. They are subsequently measured at cost less

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Whenever the Institute incurs an

obli8ation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which it is
located or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions

of the lease, a provision is recognized and measured under IAS 37. To the extent that the

costs relate to a nght-of-use asset, the costs are included in the related right-of-use asset,

unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories. Right-of-use assets are depreciated

over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. If a lease

transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that
the Institute expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is

depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the

commencement date of the lease. The right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line

in the consolidated statement of financial position.

l) Fk d htcre3t lnyorttrsnt! (boad.l

Fixed interest investments refer to investment funds placed under Central Bank of Kenya

(CBK) long-term infrastructure bonds and other corporate bonds with the intention of
earning interest income upon the bond's disposal or maturity. Fixed interest investments

are freely traded at the Nairobi Securities Exchange. The bonds are measured at fair value

through proht or loss.

t7
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Jl Quotcd ht,G.tEctlt
Quoted investments are classified as non-current assets and compris€ marketable
securities traded freely at the Nairobi securities Exchange or other regional and
international securities exchanges. euoted investments are stated at fair value.

tf Unquotcil futvcatEGlt.
unquoted investments stated at cost under non-current asaets, and comprise equity shares
held in other Government owned or controlled Institutes that are not quoted in the
Securities Exchange.

U lEvclrtorlc.
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost comprises direct
materials and, where applicable, direct labour costs and those overheads that have been
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. Cost is
calculated using the weighted average cost method. Net reatizable value represents the
estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in
marketing, selling and distribution.

nf Tndc ltld othcr rccclvablc3

Trade and other receivables are recognized at fair values less allowances for any
uncollectible amounts. These are assessed for impairment on a continuing basis. An
estimate is made of doubtful receivables based on a review of all outst€nding amounts at
the year end. Bad debts are written olf after all elTorts at recovery have been exhausted.

al Ta;ratlou

tl CurrGEt lacotra tex
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current period are measured at the amount
exPected to be recovered from or paid to the tsxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws

used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted, at the
reporting date in the area where the Institute operates and generates taxable income.

Current income tax relating to items recognized directly in net assets is recogniz€d in net
assets and not in the statement of financial performance.

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current p€riod are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws

used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted, at the
reporting date in the area where the Institute operates and generates taxable income.

Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax retums with respect to

situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes

provisions where appropriate.

ll{
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ol Deferred tar
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax

bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at

the reporting date. Deferred tax liabilities are recogrrized for all taxable temporary

differences, except in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments

in controlled Institutes, associates and interests in joint ventures, when the timing of the

reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary

differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets are recognized for

all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward ofunused tax credits and any unused

tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that taxable

prolit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry

forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilized, except in respect of
deductible temporary differences associated with investments in controlled Institutes,

associates and interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognized only to the

extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future

and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilized.

the carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced

to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to

allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred tax assets are

re-assessed at each reporting date and are recognized to the extent that it has become

probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. Deferred

tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year

when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Deferred tax relating to
items recognized outside surplus or deficit is recognized outside surplus or deficit. Deferred

tax items are recognized in correlation to the underlying transaction in net assets. Deferred

tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off
current tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred ta:Kes relate to the

same taxable lnstitute and the same taxation authoritv.

l't
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pl Borrorlag cortr
The institute do€s not operate on borrowing.

ql Cr.h rnd cr.h cqulvalcatt
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and cash at bank, short-term deposits on call
and highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less, which are readily
convertible to known amounts ofcash and are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. Bank
account balances include amounts held at the National Commercial Bank of Africa at the end of the
rePorting period. For the purposes of these financiat statements, cash and cash equivalents also
include short term cash imprest.

rl Borrovlag!
The institute does not operate on borrowing.

el Tradc rnd othcr payablce

Trade and other payables are non-interest bearing and are carried at amortized cost, which is
measured at the fair value of contractual value of the consideration to be paid in future in respect of
goods and services supplied, whether billed to the Institute or not, less any pa)rments made to the
suppliers.

tf Rctlrcncnt bcacflt obllgetlonr
The Institute oPerates a defined contribution scheme for all full-time employees from January 1,

2O21. The scheme is administered by ICEA Asset Management and is funded by contributions from
both the company and its employees. The company also contributes to the statutory National Social
Security Fund (NSSF). This is a defined contribution scheme registered under the National Social
Security Act The company's obligation under the scheme is limited to specific contributions legislated
from time to time.

uf Provldoa for rtaff lcavc pay

Employees' entitlements to annual leave are recognised as they accrue at the employees. At provision
is made for the estimated liability for annual leave at the reporting date.

vl Exchangc rrtG dlfi6rcEcca

The accounting recordg are maintained in the functional currency of the primary economic

environment in which the Institute operates, Kenya Shillings.
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r(yrEg TO THE EINANCIAL STATEUENTS (Contlaucd|
Suanery of ElSElIlcrDt Accouatlag Pollclcr

wl Budgct lafornatloa
The original budget for FY 2023-2024 was approved by the National Treasury ol L3/O612O23

Subsequent revisions or additional appropriations were made to the approved budget in accordance

with specific approvals from the appropriate authorities. the Institute recorded appropriations of

30,000,000 on the 2023-2024 budget following the goveming body's approval.

The Institute's budget is prepared on a different basis to the actual income and expenditure

disclosed in the financial statements. The financial statements are prepared on accrual basis using

a classification based on the nature of expenses in the statement of frnancial performance, whereas

the budget is prepared on a cash basis. The amounts in the financial statements were recast from

the accrual basis to the cash basis and reclassilied by presentation to be on the same basis as the

approved budget. A comparison of budget and actual amounts, prepared on a comparable basis to

the approved budget, is then presented in the statement ofcomparison ofbudget and actual amounts.

In addition to the Basis difference, adjustments to amounts in the hnancial statements are dso made

for differences in the formats and classffication schemes adopted for the presentation of the financial

statements and the approved budget.

A statement to reconcile the actual amounts on a comparable basis included in the statement of
comparison of budget and actual amounts and the actuals as per the st€.tement of financia-l

performance has been presented under section XIII of these financial statements.



Institute of Certified Inv$tment and Financial Analysts
Annual Reports and Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31,2023

a) Ilcrvlcaconccsrlonrm[tcEGtrta
The Institute analyses all aspects of service concession arrangements that it enters into in
determining the appropriate accounting treatment and disclosure requirements. In particular,
where a private party contributes an asset to the arangement, the Institute recognizes that asset
when, and only when, it controls or regulates the services the operator must provide together with
the asset, to whom it must provide them, and at what price. In the case of assets other than Vhole-
of-life'assets, it controls, through ownership, beneficiat entitlement or otherw.ise - any significant
residual interest in the asset at the end ofthe arrangement. Any assets so recognized are measured
at their fair value. To the extent that an asset has been recognized, the Institute also recognizes a
corresponding liability, adjusted by a cash consideration paid or received.

bl Coraparatlvcflgurca
Where necessarJr comparative figures for the previous financial year have bcen amended or
reconfigured to conform to the required changes in presentation.

cl Subtcqucut cvcatr
There have been no events subsequent to the linancial year end with a significant impact on
the financia.l statements for the year ended December 31,2C/23 .

5. Slgnl{lcart rludgmcnte and flourccr of E.tlnattoD Uncortalnty

The preparation of the Institute's financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires
management to make judgrnents, estimates alrd assumptions that allect the reported amounts
of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the
end ofthe reporting period. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or
liability affected in future periods.

State all judgements, estimates and assumptions made: e.g.
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el Edlnetot a!,d rr.utDlrtloEt
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
reporting date, that have a signilicant risk of causing a material adjustment to the cairJ.ing amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below. The Institute based its
assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the financial statements were prepared.

However, existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments may change due to
market changes or circumstances arising beyond the control of the Institute. Such changes are

reflected in the assumptions when they occur.

bl U..fuI llvcr ead rcrldud velucr
The useful lives and residual values of assets are assessed using t.I:e following indicators to inform
potential future use and value from disposal:

o The condition of the asset based on the assessment of experts employed by the Institute
o The nature of the asset, its susceptibility and adaptability to changes in technolory and

Processes

o The nature of the processes in which the assct is deployed

o Availabiliry of funding to replace the assets

cl Provlrloat
Provisions are measured at the management's best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
obligation at the reporting date, and are discounted to present va.lue where the effect is material.
(include provisions applicable foryour organization e.g. provision for bad debts, provisions ofobsolete

stocks and how management estimates these provisions)
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6. Graatr fiora Ifrtloaal GlovcslEGat

The National rreasury have approvcd budget allocation of Kcs 3o,ooo,ooo for the ycar 20231 2024
during pcriod ended 31r Decembcr 2023 the In8titutc rcceived grant of Ks 24,sso,ooo from
National Trcaeur;r.

Rccurrent grant8 reccived 24,550,000 20,ooo,oo0
Totd 24,560,(xrc 20,fixr,qx)

Ministry/ State
Department 24,550,0OO o o 24,550,OOO 24,550,000

Totel 24,tlo,qrc o o 24,56O,(XX) 24,56O.(xro

2.1
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7. Rcvcauc

The increase in revenuc wag mainly attributed to positive prospect from confercnce activities, joint
collaboration training confcrcnce wittr Public Sector Standards Accounting as well aa new

membcrs joined during tJIe transition period.

8. Flaeacc lacono

The decline of interest income attributed by minimal cash investment on frxed deposit in NCBA

Bank.

9. Scrolarrr nct .urplur

The increaac of seminar net income was attributed by increasc of number of tJ:e participants in
ICIFA Conference and wcbinars events

Membcrship Resistration fee 2,147,25O 472,OOO
Annual Subscription 7,935,261 s,r75,000
kactisinc Certificate 4,430,250 4,297,750
Suhcntions from Kesneb
Examination fcc 0 200,ooo
Scminars & Conference 10,0oo.139 3,376,320
Other Income 0 478,635
Totrl 24,612,9q) 13,9!r3,706

Interest from NCBA bank and financial
brtltutlo!.

248,45t 494,213

Totd 248,851 494,2L3

Seminar & conference income 30, r84,094 12,064,573
Scminar & confcrcnce Disbursement expens€ (20, r83,95s) (8,688,2s3)
ltGt Sarrrln.r hcoroc

1O,(XX),139 3,375,32O

25
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1(). AdEhLtntlor Co.tr

The previous year advertisement & promotion cxpense has been restated from Kes I,743,484 to Kes
1,920,484 the reason being recording invoice amount ofKes 177,000 that was received in 2023 but
had accrued in 2022.Therefore the total Administration cost has been restated from Kes 7,939,801 to
Kes 8,1 16,801 in the year 2022

Rcpair & Maintenance 358,629 183,009
Advertiscment & Promotion 1,415,O54 1,920,4A4 Restated
Lcgal fees

638,290
Consultancy Expense 1,348,255 563,448
provision for audit expenoe 129,332 129,330
Bank charges 138,440 74,522
Liccnses and Permits t94,667 t27,885
Olfice expenscs fee 330,727 80,1 10
AGM 506,358 529,4A7
Mceting Expenses 235,240 177 ,147
Printing and Stationery 607,444 334,161
ICIFA College 771,200 566,222
PoBtagc 116,695 46,O20
Travcl 803,678 6r3,338
Subscriptions (Professional) 101,025 519,675
Telephonc & Intcrnet 341,316 329,474
General Insurance 340,454 352,536
Donations s60,ooo 856,121
Newspapcr & Periodicals 28,O80 26,O40
Othcr (Miscellancoue expcnse) 49,498
commendation award 225,570
(IFA Act Sensitiration) 42t,Ott
Totd Gcacrel cxpcancr 8,773,136 8,116,801 Restated

l6
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11. Op.rrtlEg proflt/ llouf

The increase of administration expense was mainly attributed by IFA Act scnsitization expena€ as
well as human nesounce instruEents consultation by State Corporation Advisory state (SCAC)
during tJ:e year.

12 EEploye.Dt co.t

Thc increasc of employee cost was attributed by contribution of employee house levy during t]le
year 2023.

Thc olrntb3 pro0t !r errlvod et rftcr
ohrrglag/ (crcdftfryl:
Employment cost (note 12) 14,495,O92 14,410,031
Dcpreciation of property, plant and
equipment 5M,741 85r,064
Amortization of intangiblc asscts 210,279 435,324
Provision for bad and doubtfi:l dcbts 1,954,383 1,520,178
Chairman Honoria - fees (note 13) 960,000 726,774
Qsrnnillsg sitting allowance (note 13) 7,858,200 5,821,930
Administration expcnsc (note 1O) 8,773.135 8,116,801 Restated
Council Rctrcat (note 13

1,662,093 97a,A62
Council training (note 13)

1,759,000 2,366,905
CFO forum Validation 656,830
Rcnt cxpensc (note 15) 2,677,357 3,028,804

Salaries and allowances of p€rmanent
employecs

11,175,792 11,4 L5,792

Medical insurance schemes I,076,363 943,444
Employer's contributions to pension scheme &
NSSF 922,749 857,388
Housing L:vy 77,650
Stalf Welfare 53,274 44,270
National Industrial Training (NITA) 1,400 0
StaII Training 1.187.860 I,145,137
Totrl 14.495.O92 14.410.031
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Chairman Honoria 960,000 726,774
Council sitting Allowance 7,858,2@ 5,821,930
Council rctrcat 1,662,093 978,862
Council boerd ind tmining cxpcnctiou n ac l,7s9,ooo 2,366,905

12,239,293 9,894,471

13 Couacll Dqrcr.c.

T?rc increasc of cornrnittce sitting
conferenccs scminars and council
Secrctary at Mombasa.

was attributed by council sitting allowancc at ICIFA
uction training conducted by the Institute of Ccrtifred

allowancc
board ind

14 CFO fonr.u vrlldrtlon

15 OIIlcc R.trt brD.lrc

16 Provldoa for bril dcbtr .rDGDrG

CFO forum validation 656,830
Totd 656.830

OIIicc rent 2,677 ,357 3,028,804
Total 2,677,367 3,028,8(,4

Provision for bad and doubtfirl debts cxpensc l,964,383 1,520,177

Totd r,9643E3 L,52O,L77

Itt
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Frowlrlon for brd dabt a:rclm lor ocrloil cndcd 31 Dcccnbcr 2O23

Dcbtorr
bduco er
.t 31.t
Dcoarnbcr
2olg

5,439,070 3,505,529 3p,633 )95 6,560,066 3,460,210 5,300,980 27,899,151

Collcction
ratc policy
o/o

lU/o 7 5o/o 85o/o 85o/o 85o/o

Collection
350,553 2.724.97 | 5,576,056 2,94r,t79 4,505,E33 16,098,593

Provldoa
for 2O23

5.{39.070 3,r31,976 m8J24 9t4,010 sr 9,032 795,147 I1.800.558
AccrrnuLt
cd Brd
d.bt
Provlrlo!
Prlor yGur
12ut2l

9,836,175

Bed dcbt
axPC[ac
2023

1,9ff,383

17 DGlrrcclauo! & Amortlr.tlotr GrIrGDrc

The depreciation and amortization have be€n provided through straight line method

Depreciation 504,741 851,064
Amortization 210,279 435,323
Totd

715,O20 1.286.387
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la Propcrty, Phat eld EqElprrctt

OOAT OR VAI,UATIOT

As at January l, 2023 2,793,297 576,654 t,432,732 4,802,683
Additions r 15,517 4,621 95,OOO 219,t3A
Ar rt D.cGtnbGr 31, 2(Xl3 2,9O8,814 585,275 1,627,732 5,(rt1,821
I'EFRECIA?IOII

Ae at January 1, 2023 (Accumulated
Depreciation) | ,424,102 276,t85 1,137,208 2,437,495

The chargc for the period 363,602 73, r59 67,980 so4,74t

Ar rt Dcccnbcr 31, 20j13
(Accanuhtcd Dcprccletloal L,7A?,7()4 949,3# 1,2O5,188 3,342,236

ITET B(X)X VALI'T AS AT 3I
DECEf,BER,2O'!3 1,121,110 235,931 322,6# 1,679,585
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OOET OF VALUATIOI{ Xrbt X.h. Ibh, X.hr
As at January l, 2022 2,793,297 576,654 1,140,161 4,510,I l2
Additions 292,57 | 292,57 t
A. .t 31d DcccEbcr 2022 2,793,297 576,654 1,432,732 4,802,683
DEPRECIATIOIT

As at January 1, 2022 (Accumulated
Depreciation) I,O74,742 204,103 707,546 1,986,431

Charge for the pcriod 349,162 72,O82 429,420 851,0611

A, rt 3F Dcccnbcr 2O22
lAccundrtcd Dcprcclrtlonf t,423,94 276,t85 1,137,366 2,837,495

rEf, B(X)K VALUE AA AT
DECEUBER,31 2022 1,369,353 3(xr,469 295,356 1,965,188
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18 PropGlty, Phat rad EqulpEcrt at Co.t
If the frcehold land, buildings and other aEscts were statcd on the historical cost basis t]re amounts
would be as follows:

koperty, Plant and Equipment includes ttre following asscts that wcrE depreciated

Computcrs and rclated cquipment
1,527 ,733 1,205,188 322,44

furniture and fittings 2,90a,8t4 t,747 ,704 1,121,110
Office cquipment, 585,275 349,344 236,93r
TOTAL 6,(}irt,822 3,342,236 1,679,686

Computers and rclated equipment t,527 ,733 3@/o

Furniture and frttings 2,908,814 12.5o/o

OIEce equipment 585,275 12.5o/o

Totd 6,021,822
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lI(ytEA T{) TEE trIIIAIICLAL ETATEUEIYT3 (Coatlaucdl

19 Ia l! Ar.Gt.

The intangiblc assets include the ICIFA member portal website and accounting sage software's

(Intangible asscts i8 amortizd at ratc of 33.3olo as at 31st December 20231

20 (rl Tndc Rocclveblcr

ooaT
As at January I 2023 1,307,279 881,831
Additions 425,447
AS AT DECEIBER, SI 2023 1.307,279 L,9o7,278

AUORflAATIOIT
As at January I 2023
Aoo[tauhtcd AEortl:rtlon 497 ,7 t9 462,396

Tte charge for the pcriod
2to,279 435,323

A3 AT DECEUBER31 2023 1,107,999 897,7L9

rElr BOOK VALI'E
AA AT DECEUBER,31 2(xI3
Accrrmuletcd Anott&rtlon

199,280 {o9,569

Gross trade receivables 27,4r8,29t 14,642,529
Provision for doubtfirl rcccivables( I 5c) (r r,800,558) (9,836,175)
Nct tredc rccclvrblcr

16,O17,733 4.806.354

Ar rt DccGEb.r 31 2023, thG egcttrS mrlydr of thc gror tndo rccclveblcr rr. a. follosr:

Agc Aorlyrlr u 31
Dcccnbar 2()Il3

A.Eoult Acounuletcd
A.Eouat

Pcrlod

From 1-90 Days 5.220.127 27,478,297 Octobcr-December 2023
91- 180Between

days
3,460,2 rO 22,598,170 June-Septembcr 2023

Between l8l-270
davs

6,560,066 19,137,960 AprilJune 2023

Between 271-365
days

3,633,295 12,577 ,494 January-March 2023

Between 1-2 years 3.505.529 8,944.599 October-Decemb€r 2022
Between 2-3 years 2.729.450 5,439.070 June- Septembcr 2O27
Over 3 years 2,709,620 2,709,620 2O2O & Beyond
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Deposits and pr€paymcnts

247,500 875,769
Totd Prcpryncat 247,60,0 876,759

2O (bf Prcpryttrcat

2o(cfRccoacllLtloa of &alnlrraclt Allorucc for Tterlc Rccclveblcr

2O (dl Coraontton ltroouc trr rcoclvrblc

The institute filed the corporate income tax credit claim of tGhs 137,38s of thc year 2022 in 26s
lune2023.

At thc beginning of tJ:e year 9,836,175 8,315,997
Additional provisione durinS thc year r,9&,383 1,520,178
At the end of the ycar r 1,800.558 9,836,176

2.1O,18{l L(l,l,798
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20 lcl Provlrlon for bad dcbt cxocnre for thc vcar cadcd 31d Dcccnbcr 20113

Dcbton bdancc r.
et 31d Dcccmbcr
20,23

5,466,O21 3,505,529 3,525,483 6,560,066 3,460,2tO 5,300,982 27,ArA,29t

Collection rate policy
o/o o lOo/o 75o/o 85o/" 85o/o 85o/o

Collection
o 350,553 2,644,tt2 5,576,056 2,941,t79 4,505,835 16,O17,734

Provlrloa lot 2o23
6,466,O2t 3,L54,976 841,371 9a4,OlO 519,O32 795,L47 11,800.558

Acc--uletcd Bad
dobt provldon prlor
JGar. 129221 9,836,175

Bad debt expense
2023 1,964,383
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21 BraL ead Cerh Bellacor

DGt.llad udyrtr of thc ceth ead cuh cqulvrlcatr

22 tIrdc rnd Othcr

Ttre accmal compriscs of Kes 2,618,440 owned to PSASB attributed to joint- proflt sharing of CFO
forum training hcld Septembcr 2023 as wcll other operating expcnge accrued.

NCBA Bank Kenya plc Call depoBit 3,097,184 3,000,000
Cash at benk 3,494,754 2,7A4,544
Cash in hand 1,458 30,804

6,593,396 6,815,3218

lrf Currcat rocouat
NCBA Bank Kcnya Plc 3,494,754 2,652,r27
National Bank of Kcnya 0 4t7
Mpesa Account 0 r32,000
Srrb- totrl 3,494,754 2,7A4,6#

Flxcd dcporttr .ocoult
NCBA Bank Kenya plc Call
deposit 3,097,184 3,000,000

Sub- totrl 3,O97,184 3,fix),O(x'
Cuh h r.nd

Prepaid card L,302 29,728
Petty Cash 156 t,076
Sub- totd 1,458 3O,804
Gnad totd 6,593,396 5,815,3t18

Trade pa.yables L,677,280 3,520,570
Accrucd expcnscs 3,864,030 532,457
Employee Payroll payables 407,45L 481,655
Other pa.yables t,oo3,725 o
?otd

6,982,446 4,534,682 Rcrtrt.d
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23 Prlor Ycrr td

The administration cost of tlle year ended 31d Deccmber 2022 was restated by Kshs 177,OOO.

24 IIotGr to Thc Strtcroat of Cerh Florr

Administration exl)enae 0 t77,OOO
Adjustnent of accunulated retained earning 0 (177,000)
Totd o o

(a) Rceoaetlletlou of opcrrtlag proflt to cerh gcacntcd
&on/ (urcd Inl opcretloar

Profrt or loss before tax 8.544.866 (4,425,583)
Deprcciation 504,74r 851,064
Amortization 270,279 435,324
Financial incomc
kior year Adjustment
Operating profit/(loss) beforc working capital changes

9,299..876 (3,139,196)
(Incrcase)/decreas€ in trade and other receivables

(10,720,4951 (3,807,427],
Increase/ (decrease) in trade and other payables

2,417,80,6 1,769,406
Income tax paid
Working capital cash flow (8,3O2,5891 (2,038,02U

Cerh geacratcd fron/(urod lal opontlonr
997,LA7 16.L77.2L6t

(b) enrfyrfr of cerh ead cr-h.qulvrlcat

Short term deposits (NCBA) 3,097 ,184 3,000,000
Cash at barll< 3,494,754 2,652,544
Mpesa balance o r32,000
Cash in hand 1,458 30,804
Balance at end of the year 6,593,396 5,815,34a
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a) Onlt fton tho Gl,oocraracat
Grants from National Govcmment 24,550,000 20,000,000
Totd 24,55O,OOO 2O,(xxr,(XX)

) Kcy n-urgcnorrt oorlpGar.tlon
Council and Committec Sitting allowance 7,858,200 5,821,930
Chairman Honoria 960,000 726,774
Totd 8,81Er00 6,6218,7O4

TtllD'rctloE rlth rcletcd prrtlcr

25 Floractd RlrL ftargcncat
The Institute's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks including credit and Uquidity risks
and effects of changee in foreign currency. The company's overall risk management programme
focuges on unprcdictability of changes in tlre business cnvironment and sccks to minimise the
potential adverse effect of such riske on its performance by setting acceptable levels of risk. The
company does not hedgc any riske and has in place policics to ensure that credit is only extended
to customers with an established crcdit history.

The company's financial risk managcment objcctives and policiee are detailed bclow:
(0 CEGdtt rt L
The Institutc has exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty will be unable to pay

amounts in full when duc. Credit riek arisee from cash and cash equivalcnts, and deposits with
banks, as well ao trade and otl:er rcceivablee and available-for-sale financial investments.

Managcment asscsscs tre crcdit quality of each customer, taking into account its financial
position, past expcricnce and other factors. Individual risk lirnits arc sct bascd on internal or
cxternal asacasment in accordance with li"nits oet by the Council. The amounts presented in tlle
statement of fmancial position are net of allowances for doubtful receivables, estimated by thc
company's managcment bascd on prior cxlrcrience and their assessmcnt of the current economic
environmcnt.

Crrdlt Rlrft pontlnucQ
The cuatomers under the fully performing category are paying thcir dcbts as they continue trading.
Ttre credit risk associated with thesc receivables is minimal and the allowance for uncollectible
amounts that the company has recognised in the financial statements is considered adequatc to
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cover any potentialy irrecoverable amounts. The Institute has sigrrificant concentration of credit

risk on amounts due from member's subscriptions.

Thc board of Council sets tJ:e company's credit policies and objectives and lays down parameters

within which the various aapects of credit risk management are op€rated.

Ul Ltqutdtty rbl nl.g.Ecrt
Ultimate responsibility for Iiquidity risk management rests with thc Institute's Council, who have

built an appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the managcment of the Institute's

short, medium and long-term funding a

nd liquidity management requirementa. The Institute manages liquidity risk through continuous

monitoring of forecasts and actual cash flows.

The table below represente cash flows payable by the company under non-derivative financial

tiabilities by their remaining contractual maturities at t}re reporting date. The amounts disclosed in
the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their
carrying balances, as tlle impact of discounting is not significant.

(tltl Urrl.t rl.L
T?re council has put in place Audit and Risk Managemcnt Committee to assist it in asscssing the

risk faced by the Institute on an ongoing basis, evaluate and test the design and effectiveness of its
internal accounting and opcrational controls. The objective of market risk management is to

manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable pararneters, while optimising the

return. Overall responsibility for managing market risk rests with the Audit and Risk Management

Committee.

Ar rt 31 Dcccmbcr 2O23
Trade payables 327 ,275 956,887 393,119 t,677 ,2al

Payroll 407 ,450
Accruals 3,864,030
Other payables 1,oo3,725

Totel er et 31 Dcocmbcr
20.23

6,952,486

Trade payables 566,320 1,801,400 2,343,962 4,534,642
Totd u at 31 Doccrobcr
20.22

566,32O 1,8O1,4{O 2,343,952 4,534,682 Rcrtrtcd
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U U.-igGncnt of lntcrG.t ratc rlrl
To manage the interest rate risk, management has endeavoured to bank with institutions that
offer favourable interest rates.

ffl Forclga cur.-rcacy rlet
The Institute op€rates wholly within Kenya and its assets and liabilities are reported in
the local currency (Kenya shillings), and it held no significant foreign currency exposure
as at 31 December 2O23

fffl Scnrttlvltyanalyrla
The Institute analyses its interest rate exposure on a dynamic basis by conducting a sensiti\rity
analysis This involves determining the impact on surplus or defrcit of defined rate shifts. The
sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign
exchange rates, remain constant. The analysis has been performed on the same basis as the prior
year.

Using the end of the year figures, the sensitivity analysis indicates the impact on the statement of
comprehensive income if current floating interest rates increase/decrease by one percentage point

tvl Falr veluc of llanaelal etrctr aad ltabllltlcr
a) Flnanclal lnstrumG,.jts ,r'.a,rtur.d. at fatr vatuc
Determination of fair value and fair values hierarchy
IFRS 7 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those
valuation techniques are observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect market data
obtained from independent sources; unobservable inputs reflect the Institure's market
assumptions. These two types of inputs have created the following fair value hierarchy:

tf Level I - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities. This level includes listed equity securities and debt instruments on

exchanges.

ffl l,cvel 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable

for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived

from prices).

fil lrvel 3 - inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data
(unobserable inputs). This level includes equity investments and debt instruments
with significant unobservable components. This hierarchy requires the use of
observable market data when available. T]ire bstitute considers relevant and
observable msrket prices in its valuations where possible.
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Flnanclal lnstn/,r,f.entt 
'n;ot 

m.a.ar.d, at telr valwc
Disclosures of fair values of financial instruments not measured at faii value have not been made

because tle carrying amounta are a rcasonable approximation of their fair values.

fvl Cepttd RtrL Ueargsaclt
The objective of the Institute's capital risk management is to safeguard the Institute ability
to continue as a going concern. The Institute capital structure comprises of the following

funds:

continue as a going concern. The Institute capital structure comprises of the following funds:

V) EyGatr Aftcr thc Rcportlag Pcrlod

There were no material adjusting and non- adjusting events aJter the reporting period,

Vtl Curr.trcy
The financial statements are prescnted in Kenya Shillings (Kshs).

Retained eamings 18,025,191 9,440,33s
Totd fuadr
[rss: cash and bank balances (6,s93,3e6) (s,81s,348)

Net debt/(excess cash and cash equivalente) t7,43L,795 3,624,987
AG.dsg 620h 3a%o
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APPEIIDIX I3 PR(X}RESS Of FOLT OW Up OF AITDFOR RtrCOr,rEtr-/ATrOItg

The following is tJ:c eummary of issucs raiscd by the extemal auditor, and managcment com6entg
that werc providcd to thc auditor.

Accounting OIIicer

Signature

4
Date........25 June 2024

ITOIYE
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APPEIIDIX lI: PR(IIECTS IUPLEUEI|TED BY TEE IIISf,ITUIE
ProJ.ct

Projects implcmented by t}Ie State Corporation/ SAGA Funded by development partners.

Stetur of ProJcetr cornplctloa
(Sumn,.lrise the status of project ctnpletbn al tle end of each quarter, ie total osts hanrred stage

LDhich the projed is etc)

I NONE

2

1

2

3
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APPEtriDIX III: IIITER-IIBTITI Tt TRArATERA

l. Racurralt Grart !t lrrtGBrrat Arnoult ltr8h.l
Ittdlcrtc tho lY to rhlch thc
rEolrrta rahtc

N/A

N/A
Totd N/A

b. DGv.lopD.nt Cruta Brll StrtGEclt Drt. Aaouat lf,Shrl
Ildlcrt. thc Ff to rhlch tbc
rnoultr rchto

N/A

N/A

N/A

Totd ITlA

c Dlr.ct Pryacatr BraL Strtcmcnt llrtc
Anount lKshrl Irdlcrtc thc ff to rhlch thG

arloElta salrta

N/A

N/A

Totd Iila

44 o ni



-
Institute of Certffied

cnts
For the veer ended December 3l ,2023

d. I)oaor Rceclptr BUL Etrt ECnt Datc AEoutlt ltrSh.l
ff to shlch tlrc

aEourta talrtc
Indlart. tf,.

National Treasury ts l03l2023 s,o00,oo0 vt 202212023

National Treasury t2losl2023 4,550,000 FY 2022/2023
National Tteasury Lsl08l2023 7,500,000 rt 2023 /2024
National Treasury t5l12/2023 7,500,000 FY 202312024

Totrl 24,550,(xX)

IIII
The above amounts have been communicated to and reconciled with the parent Ministry.
Finance and Adrninistration Manager Head of Accounting Unit

Sigrt

Ministry

Sigr--------------
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APPEf,ITIX IV: REC'ORITIrG Or TRAIIAfERa FROX OTETR CO,IIERIIUErT IITSTITUTES

Ministry of
Planning and
Devolution N/A Recurrent o 0 o o o o o
Ministry of
Planning and
Devolution

N/A

Development o o o o 0 o o
USAID N/A Donor Fund o o o o o o o
Ministry of
Planning and
Devolution

N/A

Direct Payment o o o o o o o
o o 0 0 o o o

Totrl o o o o o o o
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